
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of  

the Audit Committee 

on Wednesday, 19 September 2018, at 6.30 p.m. 

in the District Council Chamber, South Lakeland House, 
Kendal 

 
 
 
 

Committee Membership 
 

Councillors 
 

Matt Brereton 

Sheila Capstick 

Stephen Coleman (Chairman) 

Tracy Coward 

Eamonn Hennessy 

Kevin Lancaster 

Ian Stewart (Vice-Chairman) 

 

 
 
Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and 
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted 
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”. 
 
 
Monday, 10 September 2018 
 
Debbie Storr, Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 
 
 
 
For all enquiries, please contact:-  

Committee Administrator: Inge Booth 

 

Telephone: 01539 793190 

e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Please note – This meeting will be preceded at 6.00 p.m. by an informal meeting of the 
Committee with representatives of both External and Internal Audit, without the presence 
of officers, also in the District Council Chamber. 

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  MINUTES  5 - 10 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Committee held on 25 July 2018. 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.) 
 
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests. 
 
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 

4  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the item in Part II of the Agenda should be considered in 
the presence of the press and public. 

 

5  AUDIT COMMITTEE 2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME  11 - 14 

 To consider progress against the Committee’s 2018/19 Work Programme.  

External Audit   

6  ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER FOR SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
YEAR ENDING 31 MARCH 2018  

15 - 24 

 To consider the Annual Audit Letter for South Lakeland District Council for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2018. 

 

Internal Audit   

7  INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2018/19  25 - 78 

 To consider a progress achieved in 2018 in delivering the Audit Plan, including 
four final Internal Audit Reports and an update on progress achieved in 
implementing recommendations from previous internal audit reviews. 

 

8  REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL AUDIT  79 - 92 

 To consider a review of the effectiveness of the Internal Audit Service.  



Regulatory Framework   

9  ANNUAL REVIEW OF ANTI-FRAUD POLICY AND ACTIVITY  93 - 140 

 To consider the results of the Audit Committee’s annual review of the Council’s 
Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and statistical data on cases where 
sources of information indicated that fraudulent activity might be occurring. 

 

Financial Issues   

10  OTHER SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL ISSUES   

 To receive a verbal update from the Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 
Officer) on any other significant financial issues. 

 

PART II   

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number)  

 

11  CUSTOMER CONNECT PROGRAMME MANAGEMENT  
 
- Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information)  
 

141 - 160 

 Further to AUD/13 (2018/19), to consider an update on the management of the 
Customer Connect Programme. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
25.07.2018 Audit Committee 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Audit Committee held in the District 
Council Chamber - South Lakeland House, Kendal, on Wednesday, 25 July 2018, at 
6.30 p.m. 
 

Present 
 

Councillors 
 

 Stephen Coleman (Chairman) 
Ian Stewart (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Matt Brereton 

Sheila Capstick 
 

Tracy Coward 
Eamonn Hennessy 

 

Kevin Lancaster 
 

Officers 
 

Deborah Clarke Principal Community Spaces Officer 

Lawrence Conway Chief Executive 

John Davies Performance and Risk Officer 

Claire Gould Partnerships and Organisational Development Manager 

Peter Hunt Interim Chief Accountant 

Lee Hurst Chief Accountant 

Anthea Lowe Solicitor to the Council 

Shelagh McGregor Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Paul Mountford Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer 

Simon Rowley Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services 

Helen Smith Financial Services Manager 

Debbie Storr Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 

David Sykes Director People and Places 

Una Bell Assistant Committee Services Officer 

 
Also in attendance were Jillian Burrows (External Audit Manager), Jane Butterfield 
(Internal Audit Manager) and John Farrer (External Audit Engagement Lead) . 
 

AUD/1 MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the minutes 
of the meeting of the Committee held on 19 April 2018. 
 

AUD/2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that Councillor Kevin Lancaster declared an interest, on 
behalf of himself and Councillor Sheila Capstick, in Minute No. AUD/5. 
 

AUD/3 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that there are no excluded items on the Agenda. 
 

Page 5

Item No.2



2 
25.07.2018 Audit Committee 
 

AUD/4 TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
RESOLVED – That the Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee be noted. 
 

AUD/5 INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2018/19  
 
Note – Councillor Kevin Lancaster, on behalf of himself and Councillor Sheila 
Capstick, declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item by virtue of the fact that the 
Bereavement Services Officer was known to them. Both councillors remained in the 
meeting during discussion and voting on the item. 
 
At the last meeting of the Committee held on 19 April 2018, officers had been requested 
to attend the Committee to address concerns raised with regard to outstanding 
recommendations identified by Internal Audit in relation to Bereavement Services (AUD/52 
2017/18 refers). A report on the subject had been circulated to Members prior to the 
meeting. The Principal Community Spaces Officer, Community and Leisure, presented a 
report and explained that the delay in completing the Parks and Open Spaces Strategy 
had not affected the bereavement service or the opportunity to seek improvements in 
service delivery.  
 
The Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services informed Members that plans were in 
place to recruit a consultant to assist with the production of the Parks and Open Spaces 
Strategy, which would consider a number of options and would include the views of 
Members and communities and following consultation with Overview and Scrutiny, a 
report would be produced in spring 2019. 
 
Discussion took place with regard to the equality of the provision of cemeteries throughout 
the district and it was highlighted that a number of Parish Councils carried out activities 
including burial provision and maintenance of cemeteries and others were keen to carry 
out the provision of services under appropriate arrangements with South Lakeland District 
Council. Members requested that the equality of provision of services be considered as 
part of the Parks and Open Spaces Strategy. 
 
The Internal Audit Manager introduced the Internal Audit Progress Report 2018/19.  The 
report provided a summary of the progress against the Internal Audit Annual Plan to date. 
 
The report detailed that, following the Internal Audit Plan’s approval by the Committee in 
April 2018, three reviews had been finalised.  The reviews for Debtors, Treasury 
Management and Budgetary Control were due to commence in July 2018, and 
Procurement in August 2018.  At the meeting, the Internal Audit Manager provided an 
update, informing Members that the Treasury review had been completed and the report 
would be produced this week. Members were advised that the Annual Plan was on track 
and the review of Use of Agency, Interim and Casual Workers and Customer Connect 
would be completed by the end of March 2019.  
 
The report also contained the executive summaries of the three audit reports completed in 
the period: Council Tax, Lake Services – Moorings and Encroachments, and Awarding of 
Grants. These reports were also presented by the Internal Audit Manager.  
 
She informed Members that the Assurance Review of Council Tax had received 
Substantial Assurance and testing indicated that Council Tax arrangements were 
accurate, timely and in compliance with legislation.  
 

Page 6



3 
25.07.2018 Audit Committee 
 
The Assurance Review of Lake Services – Moorings and Encroachments, had received 
Reasonable Assurance, with three important action points having been identified. 
Recommendations had been made to develop proper procedures to clarify ownership of 
key areas of the service provision, invoiced amounts for encroachments to be properly 
determined and agreements to be updated accordingly and sample checks to be 
introduced to challenge invoice amounts and a record of the challenges to be retained.  
 
Members expressed disappointment regarding the recommendations from the review of 
Lakes Services – Mooring and Encroachments and suggested that the Chairman of Lake 
Administration Committee be invited to a future meeting of Audit Committee. The Solicitor 
to the Council responded to questions raised and advised Members that debt collection 
was in line with the corporate recovery rate.  
 
The Assurance Review of Awarding of Grants had also received Reasonable Assurance, 
with four important action points having been identified. Recommendations had been 
made to conduct a review of the provision of financial aid, an overarching policy on the 
provision of financial aid to be approved, the Risk Register to be updated and State Aid 
rules and related risk training to be delivered to relevant officers. 
 
The Committee gave consideration to whether the training should be offered to Members. 
The Solicitor to the Council advised that the training was primarily for officers but would be 
available to Members should it be requested. 
  
In conclusion, the Internal Audit Manager advised Members that the latest position relating 
to the implementation of outstanding recommendations would be reported at the 
September 2018 meeting of the Audit Committee. 
 
Members thanked the Internal Auditors and Officers for the report.  
 
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:- 
 
(1) the progress achieved in 2018/19 in delivering the Audit Plan and the outcomes of 
completed audit reviews, as set out in Appendix 1 to the report; and 
 
(2) the attached audit reports, as set out in Appendix 2 to the report. 
 

AUD/6 AUDIT COMMITTEE 2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME  
 
RESOLVED – That the progress against the 2018/19 Work Programme be noted. 
 

AUD/7 RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  
 
The Performance and Risk Officer presented the latest Strategic Risk Register. The 
Register contained all those risks above and below the line of risk tolerance.  He 
explained that risks above tolerance were reviewed quarterly and those below tolerance 
were reviewed annually. The number of strategic risks above risk tolerance had reduced 
from six to four over the last twelve months, which meant that over 70% of the Strategic 
Risks were now positioned below risk tolerance, demonstrating the effective mitigation 
and regular review of the risks. He highlighted that an example of effective risk 
management was the Business Continuity risk which had previously been positioned 
above tolerance. This risk had been reduced and archived through the implementation of 
several strategic level business continuity arrangements. 
 

Page 7



4 
25.07.2018 Audit Committee 
 
Members suggested that the Medium Term Financial Plan may have a higher impact than 
indicated on the risk matrix and Officers undertook to review the risk in terms of likelihood 
and impact regarding future uncertainty over Government spending reviews. In response 
to a query, Members were advised that the Customer Connect Programme existed on the 
Strategic Risk Register as Risk No. 15. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Strategic Risk Register, as at Appendix 1 to the report, be noted. 
 

AUD/8 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2017/18  
 
The Financial Services Manager introduced the audited Statement of Accounts and 
Annual Governance Statement for 2017/18 and Appendices 1, 2 and 3, which had been 
circulated to Members prior to the meeting. The unaudited Statement of Accounts had 
been approved by the Assistant Director (Resources) on 28 May 2018. The accounts had 
been subject to public inspection from 1 June 2018 allowing the opportunity for the 
general public to raise objections, questions and comments with the External Auditor. 
Legislation required that accounts be considered and approved by Members and 
published no later than 31 July 2018.  
 
In addition, the letter of representation required approval and signature by both the 
Section 151 Officer and Chairman of the Audit Committee and formed part of the overall 
assurance required by the External Auditor in providing their opinion.  
 
Members expressed their appreciation to Officers for their hard work in producing the 
Statement of Accounts and requested that their thanks be placed on record.  
 
RESOLVED – That  
 
(1) the audited Statement of Accounts for 2017/18 including the up-dated Accounting 

Policies, as at Appendix 1 to the report, be approved; 
 
(2) the letter of representation, as at Appendix 2 to the report, be approved; 
 
(3) the Chairman of the Audit Committee be authorised to sign the letter of 

representation and the Statement of Accounts on behalf of the Committee; and  
 
(4) the Annual Governance Statement action plan, as at Appendix 3 to the report, be 

noted. 
 

AUD/9 EXTERNAL AUDITOR'S FINDINGS REPORT  
 
John Farrer, External Auditor Engagement Lead, presented the Audit Findings report, 
which had been circulated to Members prior to the meeting. The report set out the Audit 
Findings for the year ending 31 March 2018 and provided Members with observations 
made by Grant Thornton in delivering their responsibilities as the Council’s external 
auditors. The report also set out emerging issues and developments that were relevant to 
the Council.  
 
The Auditors anticipated issuing an unqualified audit opinion following resolution of 
outstanding queries and that they were satisfied that the Council had put in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 
for the year ended 31 March 2018.  
 
Members welcomed the report. 

Page 8



5 
25.07.2018 Audit Committee 
 
 
RESOLVED – That the Audit Findings made by the External Auditors for the year ending 
31 March 2018 be noted. 
 
Note – The Committee adjourned for a short break during which the Chairman and 
the Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) signed the letter of 
representation and the Statement of Accounts. 
 

AUD/10 PLANNED AUDIT FEE FOR 2018/19  
 
Jillian Burrows, the External Audit Senior Manager, presented a letter from Grant 
Thornton on the planned audit fee for 2018/19. Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited 
had set the 2018/19 scale audit fees and following a consultation process individual scale 
fees had been reduced by 23 percent from 2017/18. The Council’s scale fee for 2018/19 
had been set by PSAA at £43,005. The audit planning process for 2018/19, including the 
risk assessment, would continue as the year progressed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Annual Audit Fee for 2018/19 be noted. 
 

AUD/11 INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18  
 
Jane Butterfield, Internal Audit Manager, introduced the 2017/18 Internal Audit Annual 
Report. The report provided a summary of the outcomes of the work of the Internal Audit 
and included the Head of Internal Audit’s opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s 
arrangements for risk management, governance and internal control in accordance with 
requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). 
 
An interim Head of Internal Audit opinion which informed the Annual Governance 
Statement had been presented to the Audit Committee on 19 April 2018:- (Minute AUD/52 
(2017/18) refers).  
 
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:- 
 
(1) the Head of Internal Audit’s opinion of reasonable assurance on the Council’s 
overall systems of governance, risk management and internal control for the year ended 
31 March 2018, as at Appendix 1 to the report; 

(2) the progress achieved in 2017/18 in delivering the Audit Plan and the outcomes of 
completed audit reviews, as at Appendix 1 to the report; 

(3) the Head of Internal Audit’s declaration of Internal Audit independence, as required 
by the mandatory PSIAS; and 

(4) the Head of Internal Audit’s declaration of conformance with the mandatory PSIAS. 
 

AUD/12 AUDIT COMMITTEE RISK REGISTER  
 
The updated Audit Committee Risk Register was presented by the Financial Services 
Manager. The Risk Register had last been reviewed by the Committee on 6 December 
2017 and the recommendations from that meeting had been included within the update.  
 
The Financial Services Manager highlighted the three current risks and made particular 
reference to Risk AC 1 (The challenge from the committee is ineffective due to 
inexperience). It was proposed, due to Audit Committee having four new inexperienced 

Page 9



6 
25.07.2018 Audit Committee 
 
Members, that the likelihood be increased from very low to low. Risk AC 3 (The Council 
fail to meet the tighter timescales for the preparation of final accounts from 2017/18 
onwards). The completion of the 2017/18 final accounts had been achieved within the 
tighter statutory timescales. However, it was proposed that there be no change to the 
assessment as it was anticipated that there would be technical issues next year. 
 
RESOLVED – That the updated Audit Committee Risk Register be noted. 
 

AUD/13 CUSTOMER CONNECT PROGRAMME  
 
Council, at its meeting on 24 July 2018, had approved the Customer Connect Programme 
Business Case, including the new operating model for the Council (Minute C/26 (2018/19) 
refers).  The report was now being brought to Audit Committee to allow Members an 
opportunity to further discuss the Business Case and the governance and assurance 
arrangements in place to support the Programme. 
 
The Director People and Places and the Partnerships and Organisational Development 
Manager informed Members that they were the Customer Connect Project Sponsor and 
the Customer Connect Programme Manager respectively. Together, they delivered a 
PowerPoint presentation which focused on the Programme management, governance, 
controls and the costs and benefits of the Customer Connect Programme.  
 
They concluded their presentation by informing Members that the Customer Connect 
Programme was compliant with the General Data Protection Regulations and supported 
the Government Local Digital Declaration announced at the Local Government 
Association Annual Conference in July. 
 
Discussion took place and Officers answered questions. It was agreed that Officers would 
attend quarterly meetings to update Members on the programme risks and spend against 
budget. The first meeting would review all 39 risks and thereafter those risks above the 
line of appetite. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Customer Connect Programme Business Case and the 
governance and assurance arrangements in place to support the Programme be noted. 
 

AUD/14 OTHER SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL ISSUES  
 
No other significant financial issues were reported. 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 8.41 p.m. 

Page 10



19/09/2018 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 1 of 4 

 

 Lead Officer 25 July  19 Sept   5 Dec  17 April  

Committee Administration  

Committee Terms of Reference Una Bell √    

Set work programme for coming year 
Shelagh 

McGregor 
   √ 

Review progress against work programme  
Shelagh 

McGregor 
√ √ √ √ 

Training – to be arranged as necessary 
outside meetings  

Helen Smith √ As needed As needed As needed  

Chair’s Audit Committee Annual Report 
(Referral to Council) 

Helen 
Smith/Chair 

   √ 

Private Meeting – Internal and External Audit Inge Booth  √   

External Audit 

2017/18 Annual Audit Letter John Farrer  √   

2017/18 Grant Certification Report John Farrer    √ 

2018/19 Opinion Audit Plan John Farrer    √ 

Audit Fee Letter  John Farrer 
√  

(2018/19 Audit) 
  

√ 

 (2019/20 Audit) 

P
age 11

Item
 N

o.5



19/09/2018 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 2 of 4 

 Lead Officer 25 July  19 Sept   5 Dec  17 April  

External Auditor Update John Farrer   √ √ 

Internal Audit 

2017/18 Annual Internal Audit Report Peter Harrison √    

2018/19 Internal Audit Plan Progress & 
Individual Internal Audit Reports 
Recommendation Follow Up Report  

Peter Harrison √ √ √ √ 

2019/20 Internal Audit Annual Plan  (including 
review of Internal Audit Charter) 

Peter Harrison    √ 

Review effectiveness of Internal Audit Helen Smith  √   

Accounts 

Approve the 2017/18 Statement of Accounts 

Annual Governance Statement and Action 
Plan 

Sign letter of representation 

Helen Smith √    

2017/18 Statement of Accounts - Receive 
external auditor’s opinion on Accounts (Audit 
Findings Report & Financial Resilience 
Report) 

John Farrer √    

Review Accounting Policies for 2018/19 
Statement of Accounts 

Helen Smith   √   

P
age 12



19/09/2018 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 3 of 4 

 Lead Officer 25 July  19 Sept   5 Dec  17 April  

Regulatory Framework 

Review Annual Governance Statement for 
inclusion in the Statement of Accounts Report  

Helen Smith Incorporated into Statement of Accounts 

Contribute to review of Constitution Helen Smith   √  

Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy & Activity 
Helen 

Smith/Katie 
Booth 

 √   

Review Whistleblowing Policy Helen Smith  
Bi-annual, due 

Sept 2019 
  

Review of Performance and Risk 
Management Framework 

Simon McVey    √ 

Review of Operational Risks above the line of 
risk tolerance  

Simon McVey 
 

  √ 

Audit Committee Risk Register Helen Smith √  √  

Strategic Risk Register Simon McVey √  √  

Review Local Code of Governance   Helen Smith   √  

Review Audit Committee’s effectiveness Helen Smith   √  

Introduction of General Data Protection 
Regulations and Data Protection Bill 

Paul Mountford   √  

P
age 13



19/09/2018 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 4 of 4 

 Lead Officer 25 July  19 Sept   5 Dec  17 April  

 
Financial Issues 
 

Customer Connect Business Case & Updates Simon McVey √ √ √ √ 

Update of significant financial issues not 
covered elsewhere on the agenda 

Shelagh 
McGregor 

As required 

 

P
age 14



Annual Audit Letter
Year ending 31 March 2018

South Lakeland District Council

15 August 2018

P
age 15

Item
 N

o.6



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | South Lakeland District Council  August 2018 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive Summary 3

2. Audit of the Accounts 4

3. Value for Money conclus ion 8

Appendices

A  Reports issued and fees 9
Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

John Farrar

Associate Director

T:  0161 234 6384

E: john.farrar@uk.gt.com

Jillian Burrow s

Senior Manager

T: 0161 214 6302

E: jillian.a.burrow s@uk.gt.com

P
age 16



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | South Lakeland District Council  August 2018 3

Executive Summary
Purpose

Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key f indings arising from the w ork 

that w e have carried out at South Lakeland District Council (the Council) in relation to 

the year ended 31 March 2018.  

This Letter is intended to provide a commentary on the results of our w ork to the 

Council and external stakeholders, and to highlight issues that w e w ish to draw  to the 

attention of the public. In preparing this Letter, w e have follow ed the National Audit 

Off ice (NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice and Auditor Guidance Note (AGN) 07 –

'Auditor Reporting'. We reported the detailed f indings from our audit w ork to the 

Council's Audit Committee as those charged w ith governance in our Audit Findings 

Report on 25 July 2018.

Respective responsibilities

We have carried out our audit in accordance w ith the NAO's Code of Audit Practice, w hich 

reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act). Our key 

responsibilities are to:

• give an opinion on the Council f inancial statements (section tw o)

• assess the Council's arrangements for securing economy, eff iciency and effectiveness in its 

use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section three).

In our audit of the Council’s f inancial statements, w e comply w ith International Standards on 

Auditing (UK) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the NAO.

Materiality We determined materiality for the audit of the Council’s f inancial statements to be £1,325,000 w hich is 2% of the Council’s gross revenue 

expenditure. 

Financial Statements opinion We gave an unqualif ied opinion on the Council's f inancial statements on 26 July 2018. 

Use of statutory powers We did not identify any matters w hich required us to exercise our additional statutory pow ers.

Value for Money arrangements We w ere satisf ied that the Council put in place proper arrangements to ensure economy, eff iciency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

We reflected this in our audit report to the Council on 26 July 2018.

Certification of Grants We also carry out w ork to certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim on behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions. Our w ork on 

this claim is not yet complete and w ill be f inalised by 30 November 2018. We w ill report the results of this w ork to the Audit Committee in  our 

Annual Certif ication Letter.

Certificate We certif ied that w e had completed the audit of the accounts of South Lakeland District Council in accordance w ith the requirements of the 

Code of Audit Practice on 26 July 2018.

Our work

Working with the Council 

During the year w e have delivered a number of successful outcomes w ith you:

• An eff icient audit – w e delivered an eff icient audit w ith you in June and July, 

delivering the accounts by the accelerated Local Government deadline.

• Sharing our insight – w e provided regular audit committee updates covering best 

practice. We also shared our thought leadership reports.

• Providing training – w e provided your teams access to a local government f inancial 

reporting and annual reporting w orkshop.

We w ould like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation 

provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

August 2018

P
age 17



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | South Lakeland District Council  August 2018 4

Audit of the Accounts

Our audit approach

Materiality

In our audit of the Council’s f inancial statements, w e use the concept of materiality to 

determine the nature, timing and extent of our w ork, and in evaluating the results of 

our w ork. We define materiality as the size of the misstatement in the f inancial 

statements that w ould lead a reasonably know ledgeable person to change or 

influence their economic decisions. 

We determined materiality for the audit of the Council's accounts to be £1,325,000, 

w hich is 2% of the Council's gross revenue expenditure. We used this benchmark as, 

in our view , users of the Council's f inancial statements are most interested in w here 

the Council has spent its revenue in the year. 

We also set a low er level of specif ic materiality for related parties and senior off icer 

remuneration w hich as these are items of special interest and sensitivity.   

We set a low er threshold of £66,000, above w hich w e reported errors to the Audit 

Committee in our Audit Findings Report.

The scope of our audit

Our audit involves obtaining suff icient evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

f inancial statements to give reasonable assurance that they are free from material 

misstatement, w hether caused by fraud or error. This includes assessing w hether:

• the accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently applied and adequately 

disclosed; 

• the signif icant accounting estimates made by management are reasonable; and

• the overall presentation of the f inancial statements gives a true and fair view . 

We also read the remainder of the Statement of Accounts and the narrative report and annual 

governance statement published alongside the Statement of Accounts to check they are 

consistent w ith our understanding of the Council and w ith the f inancial statements included in 

the Statement of Accounts on w hich w e gave our opinion.

We carry out our audit in accordance w ith ISAs (UK) and the NAO Code of Audit Practice. We 

believe that the audit evidence w e have obtained is suff icient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Council’s business and is risk 

based. 

We identif ied key risks and set out overleaf the w ork w e performed in response to these risks 

and the results of this w ork.

P
age 18



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | South Lakeland District Council  August 2018 5

Audit of the Accounts

Significant Audit Risks
These are the signif icant risks w hich had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and w here w e focused more of our w ork. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Management override of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable 

presumed risk that the risk of management over-

ride of controls is present in all entities. 

The Council faces external scrutiny of its 

spending, and this could potentially place 

management under undue pressure in terms of 

how  they report performance.

We identif ied management override of controls 

as a risk requiring special audit consideration.

We gained an understanding of the accounting estimates, judgements applied and decisions 

made by management and consider their reasonableness. We:

• review ed accounting estimates, judgements and decisions made by management;

• tested a sample of journal entries based on assessment of the risk characteristics of all 

journals;

• review ed signif icant related party transactions outside the normal course of business;

• tested a sample of high risk journals; and 

• review ed related party transactions disclosures for completeness and accuracy.

Based on the w ork completed on 

this signif icant risk area w e did not 

identify anything w hich w e are 

required to report. 

Valuation of property, plant and equipment

The Council revalues its land and buildings on a 

rolling basis over four years to ensure that 

carrying value is not materially different from 

current value. This represents a signif icant 

estimate by management in the f inancial 

statements.

We identif ied the valuation of land and buildings 

revaluations and impairments as a risk requiring 

special audit consideration.

Our audit w ork included:

• evaluating management’s processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate, 

including the instructions issued to the valuation experts and the scope of their w ork;

• consideration of the competence, expertise and objectivity of the valuation expert;

• assessing the overall reasonableness of the valuation movement;

• challenging the information and assumptions used by the Council’s valuer to assess 

completeness and consistency w ith our understanding;

• testing revaluations made during the year to ensure they are input correctly into the 

Council’s asset register and that the resulting accounting entries have been posted 

correctly in the f inancial statements;

• for any assets not revalued in year, evaluating the assumptions made by management to 

understand how  management satisf ied themselves there w as no material change in 

carrying value.

Our audit w ork did not identify any 

issues in respect of property, plant 

and equipment.

P
age 19



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | South Lakeland District Council  August 2018 6

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Valuation of pension fund net liability

The Council's pension fund asset and liability 

as reflected in its balance sheet represent  a 

signif icant estimate in the f inancial statements.

We identif ied the valuation of the pension fund 

net liability as a risk requiring special audit 

consideration.

Our w ork included:

 documentation of the key controls that w ere put in place by management to 

ensure that the pension fund liability w as not materially misstated. 

 w alkthrough of the key controls to assess w hether they w ere implemented as 

expected and mitigate the risk of material misstatement in the f inancial 

statements.

 review  of the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary w ho carried out 

the pension fund valuations. 

 gaining an understanding of the basis on w hich the IAS 19 valuations w ere 

carried out, undertaking procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the 

actuarial assumptions made. 

 review  of the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in 

notes to the f inancial statements w ith the actuarial reports from your actuary. 

Our audit w ork did not identif ied any issues 

in respect of the valuation of the Council’s 

pension fund net liability.

P
age 20



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | South Lakeland District Council  August 2018 7

Audit of the Accounts

Audit opinion
We gave an unqualif ied opinion on the Council's f inancial statements on 26 July 2018, in advance of the national deadline.

Preparation of the accounts

The Council presented us w ith draft accounts in accordance w ith the national deadline, and provided a good set of w orking papers to support them. The finance team responded 

promptly and eff iciently to our queries during the course of the audit.

Issues arising from the audit of the accounts

We reported the key issues from our audit to the Council's Audit Committee on 25 July 2018. 

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report

We are required to review  the Council’s Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report. It published them on its w ebsite in the Statement of Accounts in line w ith the national 

deadlines. 

Both documents w ere prepared in line w ith the CIPFA Code and relevant supporting guidance. We confirmed that both documents w ere consistent w ith  the f inancial statements 

prepared by the Council and w ith our know ledge of the Council. 

Other statutory powers 
We also have additional pow ers and duties under the Act, including pow ers to issue a public interest report, make w ritten recommendations, apply to the Court for a declaration that 

an item of account is contrary to law , and to give electors the opportunity to raise questions about the Council's accounts and to raise objections received in relation to the accounts. 

In the period, w e have not had to use any of these other pow ers.

Certificate of closure of the audit
We certif ied that w e had completed the audit of South Lakeland District Council in accordance w ith the requirements of the Code of Audit Practice on 26 July 2018.

P
age 21



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | South Lakeland District Council  August 2018 8

Value for Money conclusion

Background
We carried out our review  in accordance w ith the NAO Code of Audit Practice, follow ing the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2017 w hich specif ied the criterion for 

auditors to evaluate:

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 

people. 

Key findings
Our f irst step in carrying out our w ork w as to perform a risk assessment and identify the key risks w here w e concentrated our w ork.  We did not identify any signif icant risks in 

relation to the Council.

Overall Value for Money conclusion
We are satisf ied that in all signif icant respects the Council put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, eff iciency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 

ending 31 March 2018.

P
age 22



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | South Lakeland District Council  August 2018 9

A. Reports issued and fees

We confirm below  our f inal reports issued and fees charged for the audit.  There w ere no fees for the provision of non-audit services.

Fees

Planned

£

Actual fees 

£

2016/17 fees

£

Statutory audit 55,851 55,851 55,851

Housing Benefit Grant Certif ication 7,551 TBC 7.545

Total fees 63,402 To be confirmed 63,396

The planned fees for the year w ere in line w ith the scale fee set by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd 

(PSAA).

The planned fee included for grant certif ication is currently an estimate, as w e have still to undertake his 

w ork.

Reports issued

Report Date issued

Audit Plan March 2018

Audit Findings Report July 2018

Annual Audit Letter August 2018

P
age 23



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  | South Lakeland District Council  August 2018

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 24



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 19 September 2018 

Internal Audit Progress Report 2018/19  
 

 

Portfolio:   Not applicable 

Report from:  Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author: Peter Harrison – Internal Audit Manager (Director, TIAA Ltd) 

Wards:  Corporate Issue 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 This report provides a summary of the progress against the Internal Audit Annual 
Plan to date in 2018/19. It provides the Committee with assurance through the 
individual internal audit reports for work carried out to date. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 Members of the Audit Committee are asked to note: 

 The progress achieved in 2018/19 in delivering the Audit Plan and the outcomes 
of completed audit reviews set out in Appendix 1.  

 The attached audit reports at Appendix 2. 

 The progress achieved in implementing recommendations from previous internal 
audit reviews set out in Appendix 3. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 
Local Government Act. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that the 
Council undertakes an effective Internal Audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 
management, internal control and governance processes, taking into account the 
Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS). 

3.2 Internal Audit is responsible for providing independent assurance to the Council’s 
senior management and to the Audit Committee on the systems of governance, risk 
management and internal control. 

3.3 It is management’s responsibility to establish and maintain internal control systems 
and to ensure that resources are properly applied, risks appropriately managed and 
that outcomes are achieved. Management is responsible for the system of internal 
control and should set in place policies and procedures to ensure that controls are 
operating effectively. 

4.0 Progress against the 2018/19 Internal Audit Plan 

4.1   The Internal Audit Plan was approved by the Committee in April 2018.  

Page 25

Item No.7



4.2 The progress report at Appendix 1 provides the Committee with a summary of the 
position as at 31st August 2018. The executive summaries for each completed review 
are included at Appendix 2.   

5.0 Audit reports completed in the period 

5.1 Appendix 2 contains the executive summaries of the four audit reports completed in 
the period: 

 Debtors; 

 Treasury Management; 

 Budgetary Control; and  

 Procurement. 

6.0 Follow up of internal audit recommendations 

6.1 The latest position relating to the implementation of outstanding recommendations is 
set out in Appendix 3. 

7.0 Alternative Options 

7.1 There are no alternative options; the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require 
that the Council undertakes an effective Internal Audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, internal control and governance processes, taking into 
account the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS). 

8.0 Links to Council Priorities 

8.1 Internal Audit provides independent assurance on the Council’s arrangements for 
governance, risk management and internal control in support of delivery of the 
Council’s strategic priorities. 

9.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

9.1 There are no direct financial implications to this report.  

Human Resources 

9.2 There are no direct staffing implications arising from this report. 

Legal 

9.3 There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

9.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No      

9.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: this 
report relates to a review of corporate governance and is considered to have no 
Health, Social, Economic and Environmental impacts. 

Equality and Diversity 

9.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No      

9.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: this 
report relates to a review of corporate governance and is considered to have no 
Equality and Diversity impacts. 

Page 26



Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The Council does not comply 
with legislative requirements as 
laid out under the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015. 

The Council does not 
receive adequate 
assurance over the 
internal control 
environment.   

Regular progress reporting 
to senior management and 
Audit Committee each 
quarter. 

Contact Officer 

Peter Harrison, Director, TIAA Limited. 

07970 376542 

peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Internal Audit Progress Report 

2 Audit Reports – Executive Summaries 

2a. Debtors 

2b. Treasury Management 

2c. Budgetary Control 

2d. Procurement 

3 Follow Up Report 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Not applicable Not Applicable 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services N/A 

Section 151 Officer 03/09/2018 

Monitoring Officer N/A 

SMT N/A 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 03/09/2018 

Human Resources Manager N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee N/A 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



 

 

 
2018/19 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Lakeland District Council  

 
Internal Audit Progress Report 

September 2018 

 FINAL 

P
age 29



 

 

 Page 2 
 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. This summary report provides the Audit Committee with an update on the progress of our work at South Lakeland District Council as at 31
st
 August 2018. 

 

AUDITS COMPLETED SINCE THE LAST REPORT TO COMMITTEE 

2. The table below sets out details of audits finalised since the previous meeting of the Audit Committee.  

  Report history Number of Recommendations 

Review Evaluation Draft issued 
Responses 
Received 

Final issued 1 2 3 OEM 

Debtors Reasonable 24/07/2018 30/07/2018 03/09/2018 - 4 - - 

Treasury Management Substantial 30/07/2018 23/08/2018 03/09/2018 - - 4 1 

Budgetary Control Reasonable 14/08/2018 30/08/2018 03/09/2018 - 1 - - 

Procurement Reasonable 21/08/2018 30/08/2018 03/09/2018 - 1 1 1 

Follow Up N/A   03/09/2018 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

PROGRESS AGAINST THE 2018/19 ANNUAL PLAN  

3. Our progress against the Annual Plan for 2018-19 is set out in Appendix A.  

CHANGES TO THE ANNUAL PLAN 2018/19 

4. There are no changes proposed to the Annual Plan at this time; however, the proposed audit of additional DFG monies has been cancelled as the council did not 

draw down any grant and therefore there was no requirement to have this area audited.  

FRAUDS/IRREGULARITIES  

5. We have not been advised of any frauds or irregularities that require the involvement of internal audit in the period since the last summary report was issued. 

P
age 30



 

 

 Page 3 
 

PROGRESS ACTIONING PRIORITY 1 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

6. We have made no Priority 1 recommendations (i.e. fundamental control issues on which action should be taken immediately) since the previous Internal Audit 

Progress Report.    

RESPONSIBILITY/DISCLAIMER 

 

7. This report has been prepared solely for management's use and must not be recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior written 

consent. The matters raised in this report not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be made. 

No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose. TIAA neither owes nor accepts any 

duty of care to any other party who may receive this report and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature, which is 

caused by their reliance on our report. 

 

  

P
age 31



 

 

 Page 4 
 

Appendix A 
 

Progress against the Annual Plan for 2018/19 

       

System Days Current Status Comments Audit Committee 

Debtors 10 Completed  September 2018 

Treasury Management 10 Completed  September 2018 

Budgetary Control 10 Completed  September 2018 

Procurement 15 Completed  September 2018 

Health & Safety – Property Risks 15 Commencing 10/09/2018  December 2018 

Business Continuity 10 Commencing 17/09/2018  December 2018 

Use of Agency, Interim and Casual Workers 15 Commencing 24/09/2018  December 2018 

Cyber Security 8 To be agreed  December 2018 

Customer Connect 10 To be agreed  March 2019 

Homelessness 15 Commencing 09/01/2019  March 2019 

Information Governance 15 Commencing 21/01/2019  March 2019 

Housing Benefit 20 Commencing 11/02/2019  March 2019 

Follow-up 12 On-going   

 

   KEY: 

 = To be commenced 

 = Site work commenced 

 = Draft report issued 

 = Final report issued 

 

P
age 32



 2018/19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Appendix 2a. 

 South Lakeland District Council 

 Assurance Review of Debtors 

 September 2018 

 FINAL 

  

 

P
age 33



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Debtors 
Page 1 

 

Executive Summary 
 

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT  OVERALL CONCLUSION 

 

 
Several documented procedures exists, although regular review of 

these could be better evidenced. 

Invoices are raised promptly with amounts in agreement with the Fees 

and Charges book or lease agreements as appropriate. 

Debtors are actively chased and regularly reported, with outstanding 

amounts relating to Lake Windermere particularly showing positive 

signs of collection. 

Credit notes are raised promptly and accurately. 

Amounts are written off only after appropriate approval, though 

approval limits need to be aligned with the Constitution. 
 

   

SCOPE  ACTION POINTS 

This review formed part of the rolling three-year programme of reviews of main 

financial systems. The review assessed the systems in place for the management 

of debtors, including identification, monitoring, and recovery action and reporting. 

 

Urgent Important Routine Operational 

0 4 0 0 

 

P
age 34



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Debtors 

Page 2 

 

Management Action Plan - Priority 1, 2 and 3 Recommendations 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

1 Directed Six of the 12 documented procedures 

were not dated and only one bore the 

name of the officer preparing the 

procedure. None evidenced any 

subsequent review having taken place. 

Therefore ownership could not be 

evidenced, neither could it be determined 

whether the procedure remained current 

or was to be periodically reviewed. 

Documented procedures be 

enhanced to show the date and 

owner name when prepared, 

similarly for any subsequent 

review, together with the date of 

the next review. 

2 Accepted: all will be reviewed, 

dated and responsible officer 

named. 

30/09/18 Financial 

Services 

Officer 

(Systems) 

2 Directed The SLDC Sundry Debt Recovery 

Flowchart states that debts under £5,000 

can be written-off by the Assistant 

Director (Resources) and that larger 

debts need to be reported to Cabinet. 

However, the Financial Procedure Rules 

state that the Chief Finance Officer is 

authorised to write-off debts which for all 

accounts for an individual debtor do not 

exceed £20,000, with only higher 

amounts requiring Cabinet approval. 

Procedures for the write-off of 

debts under £20,000 be aligned 

with the limits stated in the 

Financial Procedure Rules. 

2 Already amended: it should be 

noted that there have been no 

write-offs of sundry debts for more 

than £5,000 since this limit was 

raised. 

Already done Financial 

Services 

Officer 

(Systems) 

P
age 35



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Debtors 

Page 3 

 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

3 Compliance An Internal Memorandum template 

addressed from the Financial Systems 

Officer to the Assistant Director 

(Resources) is used to request that 

sundry debt be written off. This states 

that in each case the debt to be written 

off is less than £5,000 and requests the 

amounts be written off by virtue of 

delegated powers under Paragraph 18.1 

of Part 4 of the Constitution. The correct 

details, per the current version of the 

Constitution, are £20,000 and Paragraph 

28.1. 

The Internal Memorandum 

template used to request sundry 

debt write-offs be amended to 

reflect the correct delegated 

authority limit of £20,000 and the 

correct paragraph number of 28.1 

of the current version of the 

Constitution. This template be 

reviewed periodically. 

2 Already amended: it should be 

noted that there have been no 

write-offs of sundry debts for more 

than £5,000 since this limit was 

raised. 

This will be checked in future when 

updates to the constitution are 

published. 

Already done Financial 

Services 

Officer 

(Systems) 

4 Compliance A recommendation from the previous 

internal audit report on debtors, issued in 

March 2017, was that the authorisation 

levels for the raising of accounts be 

defined and this be reflected in 

procedures. Management response was 

that it was acknowledged that some 

additional control over raising of invoices 

may be appropriate and that 

management will review whether 

financial limits for certain grades should 

be introduced. Discussion with the 

Financial Services Manager and the 

Financial Services Officer (Systems) 

revealed that a review was undertaken 

and it was decided not to implement 

financial limits. 

Procedures be amended to 

highlight the importance of the 

existing mitigating controls that 

address the risk that a separation 

of duties does not exist between 

the person raising and the person 

authorising a sales invoice and the 

risk that authorisation levels for 

sales invoices are not defined. 

2 There are an increasing proportion 

of invoices raised through 

interfaces from other systems, 

particularly for rents from the 

Technology Forge system which 

would complicate the approval 

process.   

The Customer Connect programme 

includes a full review of all 

processes.  This recommendation 

will be considered as part of that 

review. 

31 March 2019 as 

part of phase 1 of 

Customer Connect 

(support services) 

Chief 

Accountant 

 

P
age 36



   

 

   

ADVISORY NOTE 

Operational Effectiveness Matters need to be considered as part of management review of procedures. 

South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Debtors 

Page 4 

 

Operational Effectiveness Matters 
 

Ref Risk Area Item Management 

Comments 

No Operational Effectiveness Matters were identified. 

 

P
age 37



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Debtors 
Page 5 

 

Detailed Findings 
 

Introduction 

1. This review was carried out in July 2018 as part of the planned internal audit work for 2018/19. Based on the work carried out an overall assessment of the overall 

adequacy of the arrangements to mitigate the key control risk areas is provided in the Executive Summary. 

Materiality 

2. To the date of the audit, over 2,000 sales invoices had been raised during the current financial year, totalling over £2.7M. 

Key Findings & Action Points 

3. The key control and operational practice findings that need to be addressed in order to strengthen the control environment are set out in the Management and 

Operational Effectiveness Action Plans. Recommendations for improvements should be assessed for their full impact before they are implemented. 

Scope and Limitations of the Review 

4. This review formed part of the rolling three-year programme of reviews of main financial systems. The review assessed the systems in place for the management 

of debtors, including identification, monitoring, and recovery action and reporting. 

5. The definition of the type of review, the limitations and the responsibilities of management in regard to this review are set out in the Annual Plan. 

Disclaimer 

6. The matters raised in this report are only those that came to the attention of the auditor during the course of the internal audit review and are not necessarily a 

comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be made. This report has been prepared solely for management's use 

and must not be recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior written consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the 

report has not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose. TIAA neither owes nor accepts any duty of care to any other party who may receive this 

report and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature, which is caused by their reliance on our report. 

  

P
age 38



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Debtors 
Page 6 

 

Risk Area Assurance Assessments 

7. The definitions of the assurance assessments are: 

Substantial Assurance There is a robust system of internal controls operating effectively to ensure that risks are managed and process objectives achieved. 

Reasonable Assurance 
The system of internal controls is generally adequate and operating effectively but some improvements are required to ensure that risks are 

managed and process objectives achieved.  

Limited Assurance 
The system of internal controls is generally inadequate or not operating effectively and significant improvements are required to ensure that risks are 

managed and process objectives achieved.  

No Assurance There is a fundamental breakdown or absence of core internal controls requiring immediate action. 

Audit Contacts 

8. For any queries or to discuss the content of this report, please contact either of the following: 

Lead Auditor: Ian Goodwin  

Ian.Goodwin@tiaa.co.uk 

07867 526292 

 

Head of Internal Audit: Peter Harrison 

peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk 

07970 376542 

 

Audit Report Distribution 

9. We would like to thank staff for their co-operation and assistance during the course of our work. 

For Action: Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager 

Lee Hurst, Chief Accountant 

For Information: Shelagh McGregor, Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

 

  

P
age 39

mailto:Ian.Goodwin@tiaa.co.uk
mailto:peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk


   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Debtors 
Page 7 

 

Release of Report 

10. The table below sets out the history of this report. 

Date draft report issued: 24
th

 July 2018  

Date management responses received: 30
th

 July 2018  

Date final report issued: 3
rd

 September 2018  

 

P
age 40



 2018/19 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2b. 

 South Lakeland District Council 

 Assurance Review of Treasury 

Management 

 September 2018 

 FINAL 

  

 

P
age 41



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Treasury Management  
Page 1 

 

Executive Summary 
 

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT  OVERALL CONCLUSION 

 

 
From the testing performed, the Council was seen to be in compliance with 

the CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice. 

From the testing performed, the Council was seen to be in compliance with 

the Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments. 

A sound investment decision process was evidenced, helping to ensure 

compliance with the provisions of the Council's approved Treasury 

Management Framework. 

Reporting procedures are in line with the requirements of the Council's 

Treasury Management Framework, the CIPFA Code of Practice and the 

Statutory Guidance. 

Staff involved in the treasury management function are suitably qualified and 

processes are in place to ensure that the team's knowledge remains current. 
 

   

SCOPE  ACTION POINTS 

The review considered the treasury management arrangements including loans 

and investment activity. This review forms part of the rolling three-year programme 

of key financial and governance audits. 

 

Urgent Important Routine Operational 

0 0 4 1 

 

P
age 42



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Treasury Management  

Page 2 

 

Management Action Plan - Priority 1, 2 and 3 Recommendations 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

1 Directed On the Council's website, on a page 

headed Fund Management, are two 

documents: a Treasury Management 

Policy Statement and Framework, dated 

February 2009, and a Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement, dated 

March 2009. Both documents reference 

guidance and figures that are now 

several years out of date. 

The Treasury Management Policy 

Statement and Framework and the 

Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement be updated on the 

Council's website to reflect current 

information. These then be 

reviewed and updated periodically. 

3 Implemented. 30/06/18 Financial 

Services 

Officer – 

Treasury 

2 Compliance Section 5 of the CIPFA Code, Clauses to 

be Formally Adopted, recommends four 

clauses to be adopted by an 

organisation. Whilst the Framework is not 

inconsistent with the spirit of the four 

clauses, the clauses themselves have 

not been explicitly adopted. 

The four clauses listed in Section 5 

of the CIPFA Treasury 

Management in the Public 

Services: Code of Practice be 

formally and explicitly adopted by 

the Council, as recommended by 

the Code. 

3 Agree to change as part of review 

of Treasury Management Practices 

and 2019/20 Treasury 

Management Framework. 

28/02/19 Financial 

Services 

Officer - 

Treasury 

P
age 43



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Treasury Management  

Page 3 

 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

3 Compliance Section 7 of the CIPFA Code, Treasury 

Management Practices, recommends 12 

such Practices; to be adopted as are 

relevant to each organisation. The 

Treasury Management team has 

prepared and applied the 12 Treasury 

Management Practices recommended by 

the Code. The Financial Services Officer 

stated that these have yet to be updated 

to comply with the latest version of the 

Code. 

The 12 Treasury Management 

Practices in place be updated to 

comply with the latest version of 

the CIPFA Treasury Management 

in the Public Services: Code of 

Practice. 

3 Review of Treasury Management 

Practices (TMP) to be undertaken 

this autumn. 

31/10/18 Financial 

Services 

Officer - 

Treasury 

4 Compliance SharePoint has a section named Report 

Writing Guidance. A link to Finance 

Guidance opens a document entitled 

Resources (Finance) Input into 

Committee Reports. Within a section of 

the document named Guidance on Areas 

to Review, it notes that changes required 

to grammar, spelling, or typos should be 

flagged. The report to Council on the 

2018/19 – 2022/23 Treasury 

Management Framework does not 

appear to comply with this guidance, as 

over 30 spelling and grammatical 

mistakes were noted throughout the 

report. The absence of a proper review 

increases the risk of other, more 

fundamental errors appearing in the 

report. 

Existing Report Writing Guidance 

available on SharePoint be 

followed, specifically relating to 

Guidance on Areas to Review, to 

help eliminate errors within reports 

to committee. 

3 Noted. The systems for preparing, 

reviewing and sign-off for 

Committee reports has been 

implemented from this Council year 

and all Financial Services reports 

are being prepared using the new 

system. 

Implemented Financial 

Services 

Manager 

 

P
age 44



   

 

   

ADVISORY NOTE 

Operational Effectiveness Matters need to be considered as part of management review of procedures. 

South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Treasury Management  

Page 4 

 

Operational Effectiveness Matters/ 
 

Ref Risk Area Item Management 

Comments 

1 Directed It be noted that the Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments, 

issued in February 2018, applies for financial years starting on or after 1
st
 April 

2018, not 2019/20 as implied by Paragraph 3.2 of the 2018/19 - 2022/23 

Treasury Management Framework report. 

Noted. 

 

P
age 45



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Treasury Management  
Page 5 

 

Detailed Findings 

Introduction 

1. This review was carried out in July 2018 as part of the planned internal audit work for 2018/19. Based on the work carried out an overall assessment of the overall 

adequacy of the arrangements to mitigate the key control risk areas is provided in the Executive Summary. 

Background 

2. CIPFA publishes Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice. The first Code was published in 2001, with the current edition published in 2017. 

Local authorities in England and Wales are required to have regard to the Code under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2003. CIPFA defines treasury 

management as the management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 

control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

Materiality 

3. As at 31
st
 March 2018, the Council had a total of £18.9M invested, with £15.5M in fixed term investments and £3.4M on call. 

Key Findings & Action Points 

4. The key control and operational practice findings that need to be addressed in order to strengthen the control environment are set out in the Management and 

Operational Effectiveness Action Plans. Recommendations for improvements should be assessed for their full impact before they are implemented. 

Scope and Limitations of the Review 

5. The review considered the treasury management arrangements including loans and investment activity. This review forms part of the rolling three-year programme 

of key financial and governance audits. 

6. The definition of the type of review, the limitations and the responsibilities of management in regard to this review are set out in the Annual Plan. 

Disclaimer 

7. The matters raised in this report are only those that came to the attention of the auditor during the course of the internal audit review and are not necessarily a 

comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be made. This report has been prepared solely for management's use 

and must not be recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior written consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the 

report has not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose. TIAA neither owes nor accepts any duty of care to any other party who may receive this 

report and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature, which is caused by their reliance on our report. 

  

P
age 46



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Treasury Management  
Page 6 

 

Risk Area Assurance Assessments 

8. The definitions of the assurance assessments are: 

Substantial Assurance There is a robust system of internal controls operating effectively to ensure that risks are managed and process objectives achieved. 

Reasonable Assurance 
The system of internal controls is generally adequate and operating effectively but some improvements are required to ensure that risks are 

managed and process objectives achieved.  

Limited Assurance 
The system of internal controls is generally inadequate or not operating effectively and significant improvements are required to ensure that risks are 

managed and process objectives achieved.  

No Assurance There is a fundamental breakdown or absence of core internal controls requiring immediate action. 

Audit Contacts 

9. For any queries or to discuss the content of this report, please contact either of the following: 

Lead Auditor: Ian Goodwin  

Ian.Goodwin@tiaa.co.uk 

07867 526292 

 

Head of Internal Audit: Peter Harrison 

peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk 

07970 376542 

 

Audit Report Distribution 

10. We would like to thank staff for their co-operation and assistance during the course of our work. 

For Action: Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager 

For Information: Shelagh McGregor, Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

  

P
age 47

mailto:Ian.Goodwin@tiaa.co.uk
mailto:peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk


   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Treasury Management  
Page 7 

 

Release of Report 

11. The table below sets out the history of this report. 

Date draft report issued: 30
th

 July 2018  

Date management responses received: 30
th

 August 2018  

Date final report issued: 3
rd

 September 2018  

 

P
age 48



 2018/19 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2c. 

 South Lakeland District Council 

 Assurance Review of Budgetary Control 

 September 2018 

 FINAL 

  

 

P
age 49



   
 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Budgetary Control  
Page 1 

 

Executive Summary 
 

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT  OVERALL CONCLUSION 

 

 
The Constitution of the Council is regularly reviewed and provides a robust 

budgetary control framework with clearly defined responsibilities. 

In line with Financial Procedure Rules, reporting of quarter one projected 

income and expenditure compared with budget be undertaken. 

Except for the above, existing processes and procedures were seen to be in 

compliance with the requirements of the Constitution and current legislation. 

Except for the above, the reporting structure is fully embedded, with delivery 

timetables published in advance and observed. 

Variances are clearly reported with sufficient commentary on any above 

£10,000. Virements are properly approved and are effected on a timely basis. 
 

   

SCOPE  ACTION POINTS 

The review considered the arrangements in place for setting the budget and the 

medium term financial plan. The review also considered the arrangements for 

monitoring financial performance through management accounts and reporting. 

This review forms part of the rolling three-year programme of key financial and 

governance audits. 

 

Urgent Important Routine Operational 

0 1 0 0 

 

P
age 50



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Budgetary Control  

Page 2 

 

Management Action Plan - Priority 1, 2 and 3 Recommendations 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

1 Compliance The Financial Procedure Rules state that 

Reports will be submitted to the 

Management Team, Cabinet and Council 

quarterly on the Authority’s projected 

income and expenditure compared with 

the budget. It was noted that the 

Corporate Financial Monitoring reports 

that are submitted for quarters two and 

three are not submitted for quarter one 

and that each quarterly report provides 

only out-turn projection, rather than 

separately projected income and 

expenditure compared with the budget. 

The importance of regular and proper 

budget monitoring is heightened given 

that the Council is currently projecting 

losses over the next five years, and also 

given the current economic climate 

facing Councils across the country. 

Financial Procedure Rules be 

complied with, in that Corporate 

Financial Monitoring reports for 

quarter one be submitted to the 

Management Team, Cabinet and 

Council and each quarterly report 

be amended to disclose projected 

income and projected expenditure 

separately, rather than netting 

these off to show only out-turn 

projection. 

2 Q1 monitoring reports were 

considered by Performance Sub 

Committee, Cabinet and Council up 

to (and including) 2016/17.  A 

review, including the Finance 

Portfolio Holder, agreed they did 

not contribute any significant 

benefit as the period of spend was 

too short to identify trends so 

monitoring reports were not 

reported to members for 2017/18 or 

2018/19.  The constitution was not 

adjusted to clarify this arrangement.   

For the current financial year a Q1 

monitoring report was prepared and 

considered by Corporate 

Management Team in July 2018 

but has not been reported to 

members.  It confirms the previous 

position that Q1 is too early to 

identify significant trends. 

It is proposed to update the 

Financial Procedure Rules to reflect 

and clarify the current practice.  

31/12/18 Financial 

Services 

Manager 

 

P
age 51



   

 

   

ADVISORY NOTE 

Operational Effectiveness Matters need to be considered as part of management review of procedures. 

South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Budgetary Control  

Page 3 

 

Operational Effectiveness Matters 
 

Ref Risk Area Item Management 

Comments 

No Operational Effectiveness Matters were identified. 

 

P
age 52



   
 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Budgetary Control  
Page 4 

 

Detailed Findings 
 

Introduction 

1. This review was carried out in August 2018 as part of the planned internal audit work for 2018/19. Based on the work carried out an overall assessment of the 

overall adequacy of the arrangements to mitigate the key control risk areas is provided in the Executive Summary. 

Background 

2. Section 32 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires the Council to calculate annually its budget requirement. Section 28 of the Local Government Act 

2003 requires the Council, during the year, to monitor its income and expenditure against its budget calculations. 

Materiality 

3. The Medium Term Financial Plan presented to Council on 24
th
 July 2018 shows Service Expenditure for 2018/19 of £30.3M, with a balanced budget for the year. 

The net projected deficit by 31
st
 March 2023 is £1.5M. 

Key Findings & Action Points 

4. The key control and operational practice findings that need to be addressed in order to strengthen the control environment are set out in the Management and 

Operational Effectiveness Action Plans. Recommendations for improvements should be assessed for their full impact before they are implemented. 

Scope and Limitations of the Review 

5. The review considered the arrangements in place for setting the budget and the medium term financial plan. The review also considered the arrangements for 

monitoring financial performance through management accounts and reporting. This review forms part of the rolling three-year programme of key financial and 

governance audits. 

6. The definition of the type of review, the limitations and the responsibilities of management in regard to this review are set out in the Annual Plan. 

Disclaimer 

7. The matters raised in this report are only those that came to the attention of the auditor during the course of the internal audit review and are not necessarily a 

comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be made. This report has been prepared solely for management's use 

and must not be recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior written consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the 

report has not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose. TIAA neither owes nor accepts any duty of care to any other party who may receive this 

report and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature, which is caused by their reliance on our report. 

  

P
age 53



   
 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Budgetary Control  
Page 5 

 

Risk Area Assurance Assessments 

8. The definitions of the assurance assessments are: 

Substantial Assurance There is a robust system of internal controls operating effectively to ensure that risks are managed and process objectives achieved. 

Reasonable Assurance 
The system of internal controls is generally adequate and operating effectively but some improvements are required to ensure that risks are 

managed and process objectives achieved.  

Limited Assurance 
The system of internal controls is generally inadequate or not operating effectively and significant improvements are required to ensure that risks are 

managed and process objectives achieved.  

No Assurance There is a fundamental breakdown or absence of core internal controls requiring immediate action. 

Audit Contacts 

9. For any queries or to discuss the content of this report, please contact either of the following: 

Lead Auditor: Ian Goodwin  

Ian.Goodwin@tiaa.co.uk 

07867 526292 

 

Head of Internal Audit: Peter Harrison 

peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk 

07970 376542 

 

Audit Report Distribution 

10. We would like to thank staff for their co-operation and assistance during the course of our work. 

For Action: Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager 

For Information: Shelagh McGregor, Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

  

P
age 54

mailto:Ian.Goodwin@tiaa.co.uk
mailto:peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk


   
 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Budgetary Control  
Page 6 

 

Release of Report 

11. The table below sets out the history of this report. 

Date draft report issued: 14
th

 August 2018  

Date management responses received: 23
rd

 August 2018  

Date final report issued: 3
rd

 September 2018  

 

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 56



 2018/19 
 

 

 

 

 Appendix 2d. 

 South Lakeland District Council 

 Assurance Review of Procurement 

 September 2018 

 FINAL 

  

 

P
age 57



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Procurement  
Page 1 

 

Executive Summary 
 

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT  OVERALL CONCLUSION 

 

 

The Constitution of the Council includes comprehensive Contract Procedure 

Rules that help ensure compliance with legislation and value for money. 

Testing showed that procurement is performed in compliance with the 

Contract Procedure Rules and relevant paragraphs of the Financial Procedure 

Rules. 

Procedures need to be strengthened such that due diligence performed is 

evidenced and such evidence is retained in the respective procurement 

project's document pack. 
 

   

SCOPE  ACTION POINTS 

The review considered the procurement practices adopted by the Council in 

obtaining goods and services, ensuring procurement exercises deliver value for 

money and are in line with EU procurement rules. 

 

Urgent Important Routine Operational 

0 1 1 1 

 

P
age 58



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Procurement  

Page 2 

 

Management Action Plan - Priority 1, 2 and 3 Recommendations 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

2 Compliance It could not be evidenced during testing, 

on one completed procurement project, 

that sufficient due diligence had been 

performed on validating the documents 

received electronically during the 

tendering process via The Chest. In 

particular, in verifying the correct 

contracting party, in ensuring insurance 

details pertaining to that project were up-

to-date and in ensuring that necessary 

licences were valid and in the name of the 

correct party. 

Documented evidence be retained 

of the due diligence steps 

performed by the Council during a 

procurement, in particular relating 

to verifying the identity of the 

contracting party, checking the 

validity of any pertinent 

documentation received and that 

such documentation is current. All 

details relevant to a procurement 

project be held within that project's 

document pack. 

2 Having reviewed the circumstances 

of the case tested, the main issue 

has arising where the bidder has 

multiple different legal entities and 

the need to be clear which legal 

entity has submitted the bid.  This 

is checked as a matter of course as 

part of the due diligence process 

and anomalies resolved if 

necessary, by both the 

Procurement Team and Legal 

Services.  This has not been 

documented as it is a fundamental 

check. In addition, further checks 

are made on invoices submitted by 

suppliers to ensure they are from 

the contracted organisation and 

have been returned if not 

compliant. 

At the time of submitting a 

tender/quote the bidder indicates 

they will have suitable insurance at 

the start of the contract – this may 

not necessarily be covered by the 

existing insurance certificate 

depending on dates of renewal.   

This self-certification is in-line with 

Implemented Financial 

Services 

Manager 

P
age 59



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Procurement  

Page 3 

 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

the Government compulsory 

questionnaire. Legal Services 

check insurance cover as part of 

the contract preparation process 

and individual services managers 

are responsible for ensuring 

insurance cover for the period of 

the contract, which may cover 

many years depending on the 

nature of the contract, and records 

will be retained by each manager, 

not the Procurement Team. 

1 Directed The National Procurement Strategy for 

Local Government in England 2018 was 

issued by the Local Government 

Association in June 2018, together with an 

accompanying Toolkit. It aims to enable 

councils to deliver their ambitions over the 

next four years. Measuring the Council's 

Sustainable Procurement and 

Commissioning Strategy 2016-2019 

against this updated National Procurement 

Strategy may assist in better delivering 

value for money and meeting the needs of 

local citizens. 

Revisions to the Council's 

Sustainable Procurement and 

Commissioning Strategy be 

considered in line with The National 

Procurement Strategy for Local 

Government in England 2018. 

3 The National Procurement Strategy 

will be one of a number of national 

and local issues which will be 

considered as part of the next 

refresh of the Sustainable 

Procurement and Commissioning 

Strategy. 

31/01/19 Financial 

Services 

Manager 

 

P
age 60



   

 

   

ADVISORY NOTE 

Operational Effectiveness Matters need to be considered as part of management review of procedures. 

South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Procurement  

Page 4 

 

Operational Effectiveness Matters 
 

Ref Risk Area Item Management 

Comments 

1 Operational Assistant Directors be reminded of their responsibility under Paragraph 11.3 

of the Contract Procedure Rules, which states that each Assistant Director is 

responsible for ensuring the Procurement Schedule is updated. 

AD’s will be reminded. 

 

P
age 61



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Procurement  
Page 5 

 

Detailed Findings 

Introduction 

1. This review was carried out in August 2018 as part of the planned internal audit work for 2018/19. Based on the work carried out an overall assessment of the 

overall adequacy of the arrangements to mitigate the key control risk areas is provided in the Executive Summary. 

Background 

2. This review forms part of the rolling three-year programme of key financial and governance audits. Procurement is defined as the process of acquiring goods, 

works and services and covers the full life cycle from the initial concept to the end of useful life of an asset or service. 

Materiality 

3. The Council's spend profile is approximately £14.7M per annum, comprising of over 750 suppliers and around 7,000 invoices. 

Key Findings & Action Points 

4. The key control and operational practice findings that need to be addressed in order to strengthen the control environment are set out in the Management and 

Operational Effectiveness Action Plans. Recommendations for improvements should be assessed for their full impact before they are implemented. 

Scope and Limitations of the Review 

5. The review considered the procurement practices adopted by the Council in obtaining goods and services, ensuring procurement exercises deliver value for 

money and are in line with EU procurement rules. 

6. The definition of the type of review, the limitations and the responsibilities of management in regard to this review are set out in the Annual Plan. 

Disclaimer 

7. The matters raised in this report are only those that came to the attention of the auditor during the course of the internal audit review and are not necessarily a 

comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be made. This report has been prepared solely for management's use 

and must not be recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior written consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the 

report has not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose. TIAA neither owes nor accepts any duty of care to any other party who may receive this 

report and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature, which is caused by their reliance on our report. 

 

  

P
age 62



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Procurement  
Page 6 

 

Risk Area Assurance Assessments 

8. The definitions of the assurance assessments are: 

Substantial Assurance There is a robust system of internal controls operating effectively to ensure that risks are managed and process objectives achieved. 

Reasonable Assurance 
The system of internal controls is generally adequate and operating effectively but some improvements are required to ensure that risks are 

managed and process objectives achieved.  

Limited Assurance 
The system of internal controls is generally inadequate or not operating effectively and significant improvements are required to ensure that risks are 

managed and process objectives achieved.  

No Assurance There is a fundamental breakdown or absence of core internal controls requiring immediate action. 

Audit Contacts 

9. For any queries or to discuss the content of this report, please contact either of the following: 

Lead Auditor: Ian Goodwin  

Ian.Goodwin@tiaa.co.uk 

07867 526292 

 

Head of Internal Audit: Peter Harrison 

peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk 

07970 376542 

 

Audit Report Distribution 

10. We would like to thank staff for their co-operation and assistance during the course of our work. 

For Action: Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager 

For Information: Shelagh McGregor, Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

  

P
age 63

mailto:Ian.Goodwin@tiaa.co.uk
mailto:peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk


   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Procurement  
Page 7 

 

Release of Report 

11. The table below sets out the history of this report. 

Date draft report issued: 21
st
 August 2018  

Date management responses received: 30
th

 August 2018  

Date final report issued: 3
rd

 September 2018  

 

P
age 64



 

 

 
2018/19 

 

 

 

 
 
Appendix 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Lakeland District Council  

 
Follow Up Review 

September 2018 

 FINAL 

P
age 65



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 1 

 

Executive Summary  

 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This follow up review by TIAA established the management action that has been taken in respect of recommendations arising from the internal audit reviews listed 

below at South Lakeland District Council. The review was carried out in August 2018. 
 

Review Year 

Follow Up March 2018 2017/18 

Performance Monitoring 
 

2017/18 

Compliance with the Local Code of Corporate Governance 2017/18 

Lake Services – Moorings and Encroachments 2017/18 

Awarding of Grants 2017/18 

KEY FINDINGS 

2. The follow up review considered whether the management action taken addresses the control issues that gave rise to the recommendations. The implementation 

of these recommendations can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against misstatement or loss. From the work carried out the following 

evaluations of the progress of the management actions taken to date have been identified. 

 

Evaluation Progress in implementing recommendation Number of Recommendations 

Outstanding The recommendation has not yet been implemented but is still on target to meet its target 
date. 

8 

Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target date has not been met. 9 

Outstanding There is no tangible evidence that the recommendation is being progressed. 0 

Completed The recommendation has been implemented and is now considered closed. 9 

P
age 66



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 2 

 

 

3. This review identifies that implementation remains by and large on track; although there has been some slippage, a recommendations continue to be implemented. 

SCOPE AND LIMITATIONS OF THE REVIEW 

4. The review considers the progress made in implementing the recommendations made in the previous internal audit reports and to establish the extent to which 

management has taken the necessary actions to address the control issues that gave rise to the internal audit recommendations. 

5. The responsibility for a sound system of internal controls rests with management and work performed by internal audit should not be relied upon to identify all 

strengths and weaknesses that may exist. Neither should internal audit work be relied upon to identify all circumstances of fraud or irregularity, should there be 

any, although the audit procedures have been designed so that any material irregularity has a reasonable probability of discovery. Even sound systems of internal 

control may not be proof against collusive fraud. 

6. For the purposes of this review reliance was placed on management to provide internal audit with full access to staff and to accounting records and transactions 

and to ensure the authenticity of these documents. 

RELEASE OF REPORT 

7. The table below sets out the history of this report. 
 

Date draft report issued: 3
rd

 September 2018 

Date revised draft report issued: 5
th

 September 2018 

 

 

P
age 67



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review 
Page 3 

 

Detailed Report  

 

FOLLOW UP 

8. Management representations were obtained on the action taken to address the recommendations and limited testing has been carried out to confirm these 

management representations. The following matters were identified in considering the recommendations that have not been fully implemented: 

THE FOLLOWING RECOMMENDATIONS REMAIN OUTSTANDING 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

1. Bereavement 

Services 

Management should assure 

themselves that efficiencies 

relating to future service 

planning opportunities have 

been fully explored and 

actions identified and 

progressed as appropriate. 

2 Fees and charges for this 

service area are reviewed 

annually. Emerging best 

practice and service 

enhancements are 

considered including 

alternative burial options in 

light of customer need and 

appropriate legislation at the 

time. These will additionally 

be considered in the drafting 

of the Parks and Open 

Spaces Strategy.  

Community and 

Leisure 

Manager/ 

Principal 

Community 

Spaces Officer / 

Bereavement 

Services Officer 

Assistant 

Director – 

Neighbourhood 

Services 

31/12/2016 31/05/2019 Outstanding 16/08/2018 Members have been 

informed by the Assistant 

Director Neighbourhood 

Services that plans are in 

place to recruit a 

consultant to assist with 

the production of the 

Parks and Open Spaces 

Strategy and that a report 

would be produced in 

Spring 2019. 

2. Bereavement 

Services 

Management should ensure 

that adequate arrangements 

are in place to review and 

assess the Services future 

planning arrangements.  

This could include ensuring 

provision can be maintained, 

identifying ways of improving 

the service and possible cost 

reductions for the Council. 

1 This will form part of the 

Parks and Open Spaces 

Strategy that is to be 

produced by a consultant. 

Principal 

Community 

Spaces Officer 

Assistant 

Director – 

Neighbourhood 

Services 

31/12/2016 31/05/2019 Outstanding 16/08/2018 Members have been 

informed by the Assistant 

Director Neighbourhood 

Services that plans are in 

place to recruit a 

consultant to assist with 

the production of the 

Parks and Open Spaces 

Strategy and that a report 

would be produced in 

Spring 2019. 

P
age 68



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review 
Page 4 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

3. General IT 

Controls 

All system users should be 

requested to complete a 

declaration to confirm their 

receipt, understanding of 

and compliance to the IT 

Acceptable Use Policy. 

These declarations should 

be retained. Consideration 

may also be given to the 

automation of this 

declaration through the 

network log on process. 

2 All new staff read and sign 

the appropriate policies prior 

to being given access to the 

council network. The 

Information Governance 

Implementation project 

currently underway includes 

two e-learning packages; the 

first is for all members of 

staff and the second for all 

users of ICT provided 

equipment. Details of the 

Acceptable Use Policy is to 

be included in these 

modules. 

IT Services 

Manager 

Assistant 

Director- 

Performance 

and Innovation 

30/09/2016 31/12/2018 Outstanding 13/08/2018 The e-learning package 

has been procured and 

implemented and is in 

the Beta testing stage. 

There is further delay on 

the go live as the system 

administrator went on 

maternity leave and there 

was a hand over of 

knowledge to new 

members of staff. The 

planned aim for 

e-learning packages to 

be available is by the end 

of the year. 

4. Data 

Assurance 

An information asset 

inventory detailing the types 

of confidential, personal and 

sensitive data held, both 

electronic and otherwise, be 

compiled and a central data 

sharing register be 

maintained recording the 

occasions when personal 

data is shared with third 

parties, including the reason 

and method of data transfer 

and nature of the data 

sharing agreement.    

2 Information Asset Inventory 

(Register) to be developed. 

Central Data Sharing 

Register to be developed. 

Principal 

Performance & 

Intelligence 

Officer 

Assistant 

Director- 

Performance 

and Innovation 

30/09/2017 31/10/2018 Outstanding 13/08/2018 The Principal 

Performance & 

Intelligence Officer stated 

that the Information 

Asset Register will be 

published on SharePoint 

for access by all staff. 

P
age 69



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review 
Page 5 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

5. Data 

Assurance 

A Secure Data Transmission 

Policy be formulated and 

implemented.  

2 Agreed - Secure Data. 

Transmission Policy included 

as part Information Sharing 

Policy and associated 

protocols. 

Principal 

Performance & 

Intelligence 

Officer 

Assistant 

Director- 

Performance 

and Innovation 

31/05/2017 31/10/2018 Outstanding 13/08/2018 The Principal 

Performance & 

Intelligence Officer stated 

that the Secure Data 

Transmission Protocol is 

drafted and added to 

overall Information 

Governance Framework 

as part of Information 

Security Policy and is to 

be published on 

SharePoint for access by 

all staff. 

6. Debtors Periodic monitoring of the 

numerical sequencing of 

debtor accounts be 

undertaken and any breaks 

in sequence be investigated. 

2 The breaks in sequence 

have been investigated and 

relate to specific, non-

recurring system issues. 

Numerical sequencing will be 

reviewed as part of year end 

processes. 

Financial 

Services Officer 

(Systems) 

Assistant 

Director & Chief 

Finance Officer 

27/03/2017 30/04/2019 Outstanding 06/08/2018 This is now 

Recommendation 3 of 

the Debtors report for 

2018/19. 

7. Development 

Control 

The Administration and 

Technical team be trained to 

input relevant details onto 

Exacom. 

2 This is part of the CIL 

enforcement function and it 

is considered that the CIL 

Officer should have 

oversight. Alternatively, in 

the interim, as part of 

scanning and indexing 

process which the Technical 

Team complete, the 

Commencement Notice will 

be directed through the 

electronic workflow on 

Information@Work to the 

CIL Officer’s in-tray. The 

long-term solution is for this 

to form part of the new digital 

system. 

Development 

Management 

Group Manager 

30/06/2018 30/11/2018 Outstanding 16/08/2018 This has not yet been 

implemented but is 

expected to be so within 

the next three months. 

P
age 70



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review 
Page 6 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

8. Disaster 

Recovery 

Recovery time objectives be 

specified more precisely and 

consistently in the Strategic 

Business Continuity Plan, 

Departmental Business 

Continuity plans and in the 

ICT DR plan. The feasibility 

of achieving the required 

recovery timescales be 

demonstrated by ICT DR 

planned testing. 

2 The Strategic Business 

Continuity plan and the 

departmental business 

continuity plans will be 

reviewed and amended to 

provide more clarity as 

suggested. In relation to the 

recovery times, we can 

estimate the restore times 

based upon system sizing 

information and use this to 

update the plans. 

Shared IT 

Manager 

Principal 

Performance & 

Intelligence 

Officer. 

30/04/2018 16/08/2018 Outstanding 13/08/2018 The Principal 

Performance & 

Intelligence Officer stated 

that the Strategic 

Business Continuity plan 

and the departmental 

business continuity plans 

have been reviewed with 

approval at SMT on 

Thursday 16
th

 August 

2018. 

9. Insurance A periodic reconciliation be 

performed between the 

system operated by Fleet 

and the claims system 

maintained by the Insurance 

Team to help ensure that all 

motor insurance work is 

properly claimed. 

2 We will work with Fleet to 

carry out reconciliations and 

will monitor the effectiveness 

of these. 

Financial 

Services Officer 

30/01/2018 31/12/2018 Outstanding 10/08/2018 The Fleet Management 

System has only recently 

started being fully 

implemented. The 

Financial Services 

Manager stated that 

reconciliations are now 

anticipated to begin by 

the end of the calendar 

year. 

P
age 71



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review 
Page 7 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

10. Licensing – 

Premises & 

Clubs 

The Statement of Licensing 

Policy be amended to reflect 

the current application 

routes. 

2 The policy is set by statutory 

guidance from the home 

office, underpinning this 

there is an EU service 

provision directive requiring 

on line applications and 

payments.  The current IT 

suppliers do not provide this 

capability and we have 

already recognised this as a 

significant weakness in the 

current system and is one of 

the main IT requirements in 

the new IT solution.  This is a 

key finding of the gap 

analysis. Due to the work 

involved and the cost we 

propose action is deferred 

until the new IT product is 

delivered. 

Public 

Protection 

Manager 

Principal Food, 

Licensing and 

Safety Officer 

31/12/2018 31/12/2019 Outstanding 16/08/2018 The due date for 

implementation of this 

recommendation has not 

yet been reached. 

The new system is yet to 

be developed in line with 

the Customer Connect 

programme. 

The authority is in a 

process of change and is 

implementing a digital 

platform. Once this has 

been implemented the 

policy will be updated 

accordingly.  

11. Compliance 
with the Local 
Code of 
Corporate 
Governance 

The mapping of the 
Guidance behaviours and 
actions that demonstrate 
good governance in practice 
be mapped only to sub-
principles in the Local Code 
that pertain to the same 
principle to which the 
behaviour and action relate. 

2 The mapping and the LCoG 
will be reviewed and updated 
to ensure it meets the 
framework and guidance. 

Financial 
Services 
Manager 

Audit 
Committee 
19/04/2018 

Council 
22/05/2018 

31/12/2018 Outstanding 15/08/2018 Work on re-mapping 

behaviours and actions 

has commenced with 

good progress being 

made, although it is not 

yet complete. 

Discussions with the 

Financial Services 

Manager revealed that 

implementation is now 

anticipated by the end of 

the calendar year. 

P
age 72



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review 
Page 8 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

12. Lake Services 
– Moorings 
and 
Encroachment
s 

Proper procedures be 
developed that evidence 
ownership of key areas of 
the service provision. 

2 An overall procedure that 
details responsibilities for the 
complete process of lake 
encroachment 
documentation and 
ownership is in development. 
Debt collection is via the 
Council’s agreed procedures 
and policies. Debt rose 
sharply during 2011/12 when 
changes to the method of 
calculation were made and 
this led to an over capacity of 
work for the Legal and 
Finance teams. The current 
debt recovery position is very 
encouraging and the position 
more secure following a 
large amount of work by the 
Legal Team.  Challenges are 
most commonly seen during 
works to develop sites and 
as a result of ownership 
changes. These relate to 
updated and revised plans 
and dimensions. 

Anthea Lowe, 

Solicitor to the 

Council. 

Helen Smith, 

Financial 

Services 

Manager. 

Sion Thomas 

Asset and 

Property 

Jim Maguire 

Community and 
Leisure 
Manager 

31/10/2018    Outstanding 06/08/2018 The due date for 

implementation of this 

recommendation has not 

yet been reached. 

The Solicitor to the 

Council stated that work 

is ongoing and it is 

expected to be 

implemented by the due 

date. 

P
age 73



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review 
Page 9 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

13. Lake Services 
– Moorings 
and 
Encroachment
s 

Invoiced amounts for 
encroachments be properly 
determined using accurate 
encroachment dimensions. 
Agreements be updated 
accordingly and invoices 
raised at correct rates, be 
they residential or 
commercial. This proper 
determination of invoiced 
amounts be effected more 
economically via a phased 
approach, on a case by case 
basis, rather than a full lake 
survey. 

2 The current Asset Database 

used by the Council and LSH 

is in the process of being 

updated. It is anticipated that 

this work will be completed 

by 31
st
 December 2018.  

Budgets are in place to 

complete this work. 

Also note that updated plans 
and dimensions are 
established whenever works 
to sites are approved and on 
completion, when the legal 
ownership transfers between 
parties and during the 
resolution of any dispute 
process.  This has been the 
case since the registration of 
the title occurred in 2006. 

Sion Thomas 

Asset and 

Property 

Manager with 

Lambert Smith 

Hampton.   

31/12/2018  Outstanding 08/08/2018 The due date for 

implementation of this 

recommendation has not 

yet been reached. 

The Asset and Property 

Manager indicated that 

progress is ongoing and 

stated that it is expected 

to be implemented by the 

due date. 

14. Lake Services 
– Moorings 
and 
Encroachment
s 

A sample of amounts to be 
invoiced, as received from 
Lambert Smith Hampton, be 
challenged on a timely basis, 
and a record of such 
challenges be retained, such 
that reasonable assurance 
can be provided that 
amounts invoiced are in 
agreement with the verifiable 
data. 

2 Sample checks will be 

introduced – the majority of 

invoices are sent annually at 

the start of the financial year 

so it makes sense to 

introduce the sample 

checking then. 

Helen Smith, 

Financial 

Services 

Manager 

01/4/2019  Outstanding 06/08/2018 The due date for 

implementation of this 

recommendation has not 

yet been reached. 

It will be implemented by 

the due date. 

P
age 74



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review 
Page 10 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

15. Awarding of 
Grants 

An overall review of the 
provision of financial aid be 
conducted that adequately 
addresses the risks relating 
to State Aid. 

2 A review of Community 

Grants is currently being 

carried out by the 

Performance and 

Organisational Development 

Team.  This review will 

include risks around State 

Aid.  Other grants not 

covered by this review 

(excluding Disabled Facilities 

Grants) will be reviewed 

separately to ensure the 

risks are addressed 

consistently. This is to be 

completed in time to include 

all new grants relating to 

2019/20 financial year 

onwards. 

Assistant 

Director 

(Resources) 

31/12/2018  Outstanding 13/08/2018 The due date for 

implementation of this 

recommendation has not 

yet been reached. The 

Partnerships & 

Organisational 

Development Manager 

stated that the 

Performance and 

Organisational 

Development Team is 

carrying out a review of 

community and cultural 

grants this year and a 

report will be going to 

Cabinet in October. 

16. Awarding of 
Grants 

An overarching policy on the 
provision of financial aid be 
approved which addresses 
any potential provision of 
State Aid. 

2 Following completion of the 

review recommended at 

point 1 above, an 

overarching policy can be 

prepared which will set out 

the broad principles to be 

taken into account when 

entering into grant 

arrangements with an 

economic activity. This will 

be completed within 3 

months of completion of 

recommendation 1. 

Solicitor to the 

Council 

31/03/2019  Outstanding 06/08/2018 The due date for 

implementation of this 

recommendation has not 

yet been reached. 

The Solicitor to the 

Council stated that work 

on this will commence 

once the review of grant 

funding has been 

completed and that it is 

expected to be 

implemented by the due 

date. 

P
age 75



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review 
Page 11 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

17. Awarding of 
Grants 

Training be delivered to 
relevant Officers such that 
State Aid rules and related 
risks be sufficiently 
understood and that 
concerns be reported to a 
central Council Officer or 
team. 

2 It is considered that training 

should be offered to 

Members as well as officers 

given the potential 

implications of providing 

unlawful State Aid.  Given 

the complexities surrounding 

State Aid, steps have been 

taken to seek an external 

training provider. 

Solicitor to the 

Council 

31/12/2018  Outstanding 06/08/2018 The due date for 

implementation of this 

recommendation has not 

yet been reached. 

The Solicitor to the 

Council stated that work 

is ongoing and that it is 

expected to be 

implemented by the due 

date. 

  

P
age 76



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review 
Page 12 

 

THE FOLLOWING RECOMMENDATIONS HAVE BEEN IMPLEMENTED  

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Responsible 

Officer 

Due 

Date 

Revised  

Due Date 

Status Last Update Latest Response 

18. Creditor 

Payments 

A list of sample authorisation 

signatures be compiled and held 

by the Financial Services team. 

3 Financial Services 

Officer (Systems) 

Immediate 30/04/2018 Completed 09/08/2018 This has now been implemented. 

A document listing five 

authorisation signatures of 

Lambert Smith Hampton 

employees was evidenced. 

19. NNDR Procedures relating to Business 

Rates be revised as part of the 

implementation of the new 

integrated system. 

3 Revenues 

Manager 

31/01/2018 31/05/2018 Completed 13/08/2018 This has now been implemented. 

Extensive suite of procedures 

evidenced. 

20. Taxi Licensing Historical out-of-date driver and 

vehicle license details held on the 

Licensing Register on the council's 

website be deleted and the 

Register brought up to date. 

2 Public Protection 

Manager 

Assistant Director 

– Neighbourhood 

Services 

01/10/2018 N/A Completed 16/08/2018 The authority is in a process of 

change and is implementing a 

digital platform. The register and 

the historical drivers on CIVICA 

App/FLARE are constantly being 

updated. This action is therefore 

complete. 

21. Disaster 

Recovery 

A definition of what constitutes a 

disaster and arrangements for ICT 

DR testing, training and for 

standing down the plan and 

returning to business as usual be 

detailed in the ICT DR plan. 

2 Shared IT 

Manager 

31/03/2018 31/05/2018 Completed 06/08/2018 This has now been implemented. 

The Strategic Risk Register entry 

for Business Continuity has been 

archived. Robust organisational 

arrangements are in place, 

including server room protections, 

resilient telephony, resilient email, 

resilient data with back up at a 

remote site, disaster recovery 

contract and back-up generator. 

Also, 150 staff have tested remote 

working capability without 

experiencing disruption. 

P
age 77



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review 
Page 13 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Responsible 

Officer 

Due 

Date 

Revised  

Due Date 

Status Last Update Latest Response 

22. Performance 

Monitoring 

Written procedures be established 

to reflect current performance 

monitoring arrangements and 

updated as required. 

2 Performance and 

Risk Officer 

30/06/2018 N/A Completed 06/08/2018 A detailed procedure was 

completed on 28
th

 March 2018 to 

reflect current performance 

monitoring arrangements. The 

procedure was evidenced during 

this follow-up review. 

23. Compliance with 

the Local Code of 

Corporate 

Governance 

To evidence greater alignment with 

the Guidance, self-assessment be 

made against each of the 

Guidance's suggested Examples of 

Behaviours and Actions, rather 

than (or as well as) against the 

adopted sub-principles of its Local 

Code. 

2 Financial Services 

Manager 

31/03/2018 N/A Completed 14/08/2018 This has now been implemented. 

Updated spreadsheet evidenced. 

24. Compliance with 

the Local Code of 

Corporate 

Governance 

The Responsible Officer for each 

adopted sub-principle in the Local 

Code be referenced in all cases to 

the Officer's post, rather than to the 

Officer's name or a reference to 

the Constitution. 

2 Financial Services 

Manager 

31/03/2018 N/A Completed 14/08/2018 This has now been implemented. 

Updated spreadsheet evidenced. 

25. Compliance with 

the Local Code of 

Corporate 

Governance 

The spreadsheet that is used to 

evidence compliance with the 

Local Code be updated to reflect 

the proposed changes to the Local 

Code that were presented to the 

Audit Committee and subsequently 

to Cabinet in December 2017. 

2 Financial Services 

Manager 

31/03/2018 N/A Completed 14/08/2018 This has now been implemented. 

Updated spreadsheet evidenced. 

26. Awarding of 

Grants 

The Risk Register be updated to 

include an assessment of the risk 

that illegal State Aid has been or is 

still being provided. 

2 Solicitor to the 

Council/ 

Performance & 

Risk Officer 

Completed N/A Completed 06/08/2018 The Risk Register has now been 

updated. 

 

 

--------------- 

P
age 78



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 19 September 2018 

Review of Effectiveness of Internal Audit 

 

Portfolio:   Not applicable 

Report from:  Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author: Helen Smith – Financial Services Manager 

Wards:  (All Wards); 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 To provide the Audit Committee with assurance following a review of the 
effectiveness of the Council’s system of Internal Audit. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that the Audit Committee consider and endorse the 
conclusion that the Council has an effective system of internal audit in place 
that complies with the principles of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 include a requirement for the Council to 
conduct a review of the effectiveness of its system of internal control at least once a 
year. The internal audit function is a key element of internal control.  

3.2 For the purposes of the review, this report sets out various areas of assurance that 
have been relied upon when reviewing whether the system of internal audit is 
effective. These sources of assurance are presented here to allow the Committee to 
conclude the review. 

3.3 The Council’s internal audit service is provided by TIAA Ltd under a contract which 
commenced on 1st April 2016. 

3.4 In considering its effectiveness, it is worthwhile defining what the Council’s system of 
internal audit is. The definition of Internal Audit is: 

‘an assurance function that provides an independent and objective opinion to the 
organisation on the control environment by evaluating its effectiveness in achieving 
the organisation’s objectives. It objectively examines, evaluates and reports on the 
adequacy of the control environment as a contribution to the proper, economic, 
efficient and effective use of resources’  

3.5  The key components of the Council’s system of Internal Audit include:  

 An independent and objective Internal Audit function comprising appropriately 
experienced and qualified staff;  

 A three-year rolling programme of reviews of core finance and governance 
reviews; 

Page 79

Item No.8



 An agreed Annual Internal Audit plan prepared using a risk based approach;  

 The Audit Committee which is independent of the Executive and has, 
amongst other things, responsibility for monitoring the delivery of the Internal 
Audit plan and the implementation of audit recommendations;  

 The scope for both the Assistant Director (Resources) and the internal audit 
manager to report directly to management and Members where there are 
circumstances that require this to happen.  

3.6  The information provided below gives various forms of assurance that the Committee 
should consider when determining whether the system of internal audit is effective. 
This report should equally be considered in conjunction with the Annual Internal Audit 
report which was considered by this Committee at its last meeting. 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

3.7 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the 
Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) agreed to collaborate in the 
development of the internal audit profession in the public sector. As a result, national 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), based upon the mandatory elements 
of the global CIIA’s International Professional Performance Framework were 
developed. 

3.8  The PSIAS came into force on 1st April 2013 and consist of the following: 

 Definition of Internal Auditing; 

 Code of Ethics; and 

 Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 

 
In local government, the PSIAS are mandatory for all principal local authorities and 
other relevant bodies subject to the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

3.9 To enable TIAA to continue to comply with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
we are required every five years (standard 1312) to have an external quality 
assurance review of our working processes. TIAA elected to conduct this external 
validation after three years rather than five. The subsequent report from 2016 
confirmed full compliance with the standards; some minor matters were noted which 
have been updated in our improvement plan and currently being addressed.     

 Audit Charter  

3.10 It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the Council has an Internal Audit Charter which 
has been approved by senior management and the Audit Committee. The Charter, 
approved by Audit Committee at its meeting of July 2016, sets out the arrangements 
for the delivery of the Internal Audit service to South Lakeland District Council.   

 Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2017/18 

3.11 In their Internal Audit Annual Report 2017/18 presented to the last meeting of this 
Committee, the Internal Audit Manager requested that Members note: 

 The progress achieved in 2017/18 in delivering the Audit Plan and the 
outcomes of completed audit reviews; 

 The Audit Manager’s opinion of reasonable assurance on the Council’s 
overall systems of governance, risk management and internal control for the 
year ended 31st March 2018; 

 The Audit Manager’s declaration of Internal Audit independence as required 
by the mandatory PSIAS; 

 The Audit Manager’s declaration of conformance with the mandatory PSIAS. 

Page 80



Performance Indicators  

3.12 TIAA has a range of performance indicators, which for 2018/19 will include client 
satisfaction monitoring. These will be proactively monitored and reported on 
throughout the year and form part of the Internal Audit Annual Report for 2018/19. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 This review of effectiveness of Internal Audit has been considered by the Corporate 
Management Team. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 The review of internal audit effectiveness is a key requirement of The Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015. There are no alternative options. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 An effective Internal Audit service supports the delivery of the Council Priorities as 
set out in the Council Plan by providing independent assurance over the 
arrangements in place across the Council to deliver priorities and objectives. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 There are no direct financial implications to this report.  The Internal Audit service 
has been delivered within its approved budget. 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no direct staffing implications arising from this report. 

Legal 

7.3 There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No      

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: this 
report relates to a review of corporate governance and is considered to have no 
Health, Social, Economic and Environmental impacts. 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No      

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: this 
report relates to a review of corporate governance and is considered to have no 
Equality and Diversity impacts. 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Internal Audit coverage does not 
address the high risk areas of 
Council activity.  

Non-delivery of the agreed Audit 
Plan.  

Unplanned work which arises in 
year which requires audit 

The Council does not 
receive adequate 
assurance over the 
internal control 
environment.  

The Council would be 
more vulnerable to risk. 

Potential breach of the 

Risk based annual audit 
planning. 

Regular progress reporting 
to senior management and 
Audit Committee each 
quarter. 

A degree of flexibility in 
the Plan to accommodate 

Page 81



Risk Consequence Controls required 

attention. statutory requirement to 
maintain an adequate and 
effective system of internal 
control. 

 

unplanned work. 

 

Contact Officers 

Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, South Lakeland District Council, 01539 793333, 
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Peter Harrison, Director, TIAA Limited: 07970 376542. peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Assessment of Compliance with Role of Head of Internal Audit 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

CIPFA: The role of the head of 
internal audit in public service 
organisations 

https://tinyurl.com/ydyk7x9p 

 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services 23/8/18 

Section 151 Officer 23/8/18 

Monitoring Officer 23/8/18 

SMT 30/8/18 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 23/8/18 

Human Resources Manager 23/8/18 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee N/A 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 82

https://tinyurl.com/ydyk7x9p


Appendix 1 
 

1 
 

CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit 2010 

1 Introduction 

1.1 In 2010, CIPFA published a Statement on the Role of the HIA in Public Sector 

Organisations in recognition of the critical position occupied by the HIA within 

any organisation in helping it to achieve its objectives by giving assurance on 

its internal control arrangements and playing a key role in promoting good 

corporate governance.  CIPFA introduced a ‘comply or explain’ requirement 

which has been formally set out within the CIPFA / SOLACE publication 

‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Governance: Framework Addendum 

(2012)’. 

1.2 The Addendum sets out 21 key elements of the typical systems and processes 

that comprise an authority’s governance arrangements and requires that the 

Council’s review of effectiveness of its governance arrangements makes 

reference to each of these key elements. 

1.3 In relation to the role of the Head of Internal Audit, the Addendum states that a 

key element of governance includes the arrangements for: 

“Ensuring the authority’s assurance arrangements conform with the 

governance requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of 

Internal Audit (2010) and where they do not, explain why and how they deliver 

the same impact.” 

1.4 In order to make a public declaration of conformance with the Statement, it is 

recommended that a self-assessment is undertaken against the detailed 

requirements set out within the publication and signed off by the Chief 

Financial Officer / Corporate Management Team. 

2 The Five Principles 

2.1 The Statement sets out how the requirements of legislation and professional 

standards should be fulfilled by CFOs in carrying out their role and is structured 

under five core principles: 

2.2 The Head of Internal Audit in a public service organisation plays a critical role 

in delivering the organisation’s strategic objectives by 

 championing best practice in governance, objectively assessing the 

adequacy of governance and management of existing risks, commenting on 

responses to emerging risks and proposed developments; and 

 giving an objective and evidence based opinion on all aspects of 

governance, risk management and internal control. 

2.3 To perform this role, the Head of Audit: 

Page 83

http://www.cipfa.org/-/media/Files/Publications/Reports/Role_of_the_HIA_NOVEMBERv5.pdf
http://www.cipfa.org/-/media/Files/Publications/Reports/Role_of_the_HIA_NOVEMBERv5.pdf
http://www.cipfa.org/-/media/Files/Publications/Reports/delivering%20good%20governance%20addendum.pdf
http://www.cipfa.org/-/media/Files/Publications/Reports/delivering%20good%20governance%20addendum.pdf


Appendix 1 
 

2 
 

 must be a senior manager with regular and open engagement across the 

organisation, particularly with the Leadership Team and with the Audit 

Committee 

 must lead and direct an internal audit service that is resourced to be fit for 

purpose; and 

 must be professionally qualified and suitably experienced. 

2.4 This completed self-assessment template is attached as Appendix 1 for sign 

off by Audit Committee. 

Page 84



Checklist for Assessing Compliance with the Governance Requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head 
of Internal Audit 2010 
 

3 
 

 

Ref Governance Requirement Council arrangement and any required actions Assessment of 
conformance 

   Y N N/A 

 Principle 1: The HIA in a public service organisation plays a critical role in delivering the organisation’s strategic 
objectives by championing best practice in governance, objectively assessing the adequacy of governance and 
management of existing risks, commenting on responses to emerging risks and proposed developments 

1.1 Set out the HIA’s role in good governance and 
how this fits with the role of others. 

HIA Role Profile sets out the contribution of the 
annual report of the HIA to the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

  

1.2 Ensure that the importance of good 
governance is stressed to all in the 
organisation, through policies, procedures and 
training 

Constitution contains various codes and rules 
designed to ensure good governance throughout 
the Council.  Officers’ Code of Conduct 
incorporates the Nolan Committee’s Standards in 
Public Life. 

  

1.3 Ensure that the HIA is consulted on all 
proposed major projects, programmes and 
policy initiatives. 

Internal audit plans incorporate capacity to respond 
to requests for ‘hot assurance’ work.  Internal audit 
are frequently asked to provide support to projects 
and other initiatives. 

  

  

P
age 85



Checklist for Assessing Compliance with the Governance Requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head 
of Internal Audit 2010 
 

4 
 

 Principle 2: The HIA in a public service organisation plays a critical role in delivering the organisation’s strategic 
objectives by giving an objective and evidence based opinion on all aspects of governance, risk management and 
internal control 

2.1 Set out the responsibilities of the HIA, which 
should not include the management of 
operational areas. 

Responsibilities of the HIA are set out in the Role 
Profile and do not include any operational 
responsibilities.   

 

  

2.2 Ensure that internal audit is independent of 
external audit. 

Internal audit is independent of external audit.  IA 
plans will be shared with external audit, but will not 
be in any way directed by external audit. 

  

2.3 Where the HIA does have operational 
responsibilities the HIA’s line manager and the 
Audit Committee should specifically approve 
the IA strategy for these and associated plans 
and reports and ensure the work is 
independently managed. 

n/a 

  

2.4 Establish clear lines of responsibility for those 
with an interest in governance (eg Chief 
Executive, Chief Legal Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer, Audit Committee, non-executive 
directors/elected representatives). This covers 
responsibilities for drawing up and reviewing 
key corporate strategies, statements and 
policies 

SLDC constitution includes scheme of delegation 
to officers, terms of reference to committees, 
codes of conduct for officers/members, financial 
procedure rules etc. 

  

2.5 Establish clear lines of reporting to the 
Leadership Team and to the Audit Committee 
where the HIA has significant concerns 

Reporting lines are defined within the Internal Audit 
Charter which has been agreed by the Council’s 
Audit Committee. 

  

2.6 Agree the terms of reference for internal audit Internal audit charter sets out internal audit’s terms   

P
age 86



Checklist for Assessing Compliance with the Governance Requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head 
of Internal Audit 2010 
 

5 
 

with the HIA and the Audit Committee as well 
as with the Leadership Team 

of reference.  Charter has been approved by the 
Audit committee 

2.7 Set out the basis on which the HIA can give 
assurances to other organisations and the 
basis on which the HIA can place reliance on 
assurances from others. 

The basis of assurances provided to other 
organisations is set out within the contract 
agreement. 

 

  

2.8 Ensure that comprehensive governance 
arrangements are in place, with supporting 
documents covering eg risk management, 
corporate planning, anti fraud and corruption 
and whistleblowing. 

Key governance documents form part of the 
Council’s constitution, including the counter-fraud 
and corruption and whistleblowing policies.  Risk 
management policy and strategy are in place and 
corporate risk register is reported to Audit 
Committee on a regular basis. 

  

2.9 Ensure that the annual internal audit opinion 
and report are issued in the name of the HIA. 

Annual report of the Head of Internal Audit 
contains the internal audit opinion.  This report is 
presented to Audit Committee by the Head of 
Internal Audit. 

  

P
age 87



Checklist for Assessing Compliance with the Governance Requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head 
of Internal Audit 2010 
 

6 
 

2.10 Include awareness of governance in the 
competencies required by members of the 
Leadership Team. 

The Chief Executive’s JD does explicitly state that 
he has responsibility   

 
“To ensure arrangements are in place for the 
effective corporate governance of the 
Council and the legality, probity, integrity, proper 
accountability and scrutiny of 
decision-making progress, that these are 
maintained within the Council at all times” 

 

The other SMT JD’s don’t explicitly mention the 
word governance but the duties and 
responsibilities include specific expectations 
relevant for each role that align with the 7 
principles 

  

2.11 Set out the framework of assurance that 
supports the annual governance report and 
identify internal audit’s role within it. The HIA 
should not be responsible for preparing the 
report 

The framework of assurance that supports the 
annual governance statement is documented 
within the Statement itself and within the approach 
to completing the AGS. 

HIA is not responsible for preparing the AGS, this 
is led by the Assistant Director (Resources) on 
behalf of SMT. 

  

2.12 Ensure that the internal audit strategy is 
approved by the Audit Committee and 
endorsed by the Leadership Team. 

IA is no longer required to produce a strategy.  
This was a requirement of the CIPFA Code of 
Practice for IA (2006) which has been replaced by 
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 
which now require the annual internal audit plan to 
contain a high level statement of how the service is 
to be delivered.  This is included within the Internal 
Audit annual plan. 

  

P
age 88



Checklist for Assessing Compliance with the Governance Requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head 
of Internal Audit 2010 
 

7 
 

 Principle 3: The HIA in a public service organisation must be a senior manager with regular and open engagement 
across the organisation, particularly with the Leadership Team and with the Audit Committee. 

3.1 Designate a named individual as HIA in line 
with the principles in this Statement. The 
individual could be someone from another 
organisation where internal audit is contracted 
out or shared. Where this is the case then the 
roles of the HIA and the client manager must 
be clearly set out in the contract or agreement. 

The Audit Manager – Peter Harrison TIAA 

  

3.2 Ensure that where the HIA is an employee that 
they are sufficiently senior and independent 
within the organisation’s structure to allow 
them to carry out their role effectively and be 
able to provide credibly constructive challenge 
to the Management Team. 

Not applicable as the HIA is not an employee of 
the Council. 

 

 
  

3.3 Ensure that where the HIA is an employee the 
HIA is line managed by a member of the 
Management Team. Where the HIA is not an 
employee then the reporting line must be 
clearly set out in the contract or agreement 
with the internal audit supplier. 

The Internal Audit contract and thus the role of the 
HIA is overseen by the S151 Officer, the Assistant 
Director (Resources), who is also a member of the 
Senior Management Team. 

  

3.4 Establish an Audit Committee in line with 
guidance and good practice. 

The Council has an Audit Committee which 
undertakes an annual self-assessment against the 
CIPFA practical guidance checklist and has 
assessed itself as performing appropriately. 
Review was reported to Audit Committee 
December 2017. 

  

3.5 Set out the HIA’s relationship with the Audit 
Committee and its Chair, including the 

The relationship is set out in the Internal Audit 
Charter. 

  

P
age 89



Checklist for Assessing Compliance with the Governance Requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head 
of Internal Audit 2010 
 

8 
 

Committee’s role (if any) in appointing the HIA. 

3.6 Ensure that the organisation’s governance 
arrangements allow the HIA: 

– to bring influence to bear on material 
decisions reflecting governance; 

– direct access to the Chief Executive, other 
Leadership Team members, the Audit 
Committee and 

external audit; and 

– to attend meetings of the Leadership Team 
and Management Team where the HIA 
considers this to be appropriate. 

The Council has appropriate arrangements in 
place to allow the HIA to perform these functions 
appropriately. 

  

3.7 Set out unfettered rights of access for internal 
audit to all papers and all people in the 
organisation, as well as appropriate access in 
(significant) partner organisations. 

This is defined within the Internal Audit Charter 

  

3.8 Set out the HIA’s responsibilities relating to 
partners including joint ventures and 
outsourced and shared services. 

The HIA responsibilities are defined within the draft 
audit charter in relation to the out sourced service.   

  

P
age 90



Checklist for Assessing Compliance with the Governance Requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head 
of Internal Audit 2010 
 

9 
 

 Principle 4: The HIA in a public service organisation must lead and direct an internal audit service that is resourced 
to be fit for purpose. 

4.1 Provide the HIA with the resources, expertise 
and systems necessary to perform their role 
effectively. 

Internal audit is considered to be adequately 
resourced to deliver the level of service currently 
required.  This will continue to be closely monitored 
and escalated should resources be insufficient to 
deliver an overall opinion. 

  

4.2 Ensure that the Audit Committee sets out a 
performance framework for the HIA and their 
team and assesses performance and takes 
action as appropriate. 

Performance is currently measured through the 
contract specification. The Internal Audit Shared 
Service also measures its own performance.  

Performance is monitored throughout the year and 
will be reported as part of the outturn report to the 
Audit Committee. 

 

  

4.3 Ensure that there is a regular external review 
of internal audit quality 

The PSIAS introduced a requirement for formal 
external inspection of internal audit.  External 
inspection is due by March 2018 and will be 
completed for the out sourced service within this 
timescale.  

  

4.4 Ensure that where the HIA is from another 
organisation that they do not also provide the 
external audit service 

Internal audit is provided by TIAA.  The service has 
no external audit role.   

  

P
age 91



Checklist for Assessing Compliance with the Governance Requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head 
of Internal Audit 2010 
 

10 
 

 Principle 5: The HIA in a public service organisation must be professionally qualified and suitably experienced 

5.1 Appoint a professionally qualified HIA whose 
core responsibilities include those set out 
under the other principles in this Statement 
and ensure that these are properly understood 
throughout the organisation. 

The Audit Manager – Peter Harrison TIAA 

  

5.2 Ensure that the HIA has the skills, knowledge, 
experience and resources to perform 
effectively in his or her role. 

The Audit Manager – Peter Harrison TIAA 
  

 

 P
age 92



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 19 September 2018 

Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity 

 

Portfolio:   Not applicable 

Report from:  Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author: Helen Smith – Financial Services Manager 

Wards:  Corporate Issue 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 This report presents the results of the Audit Committee’s annual review of the 
Council’s Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and provides statistical data on 
cases where sources of information indicated that fraudulent activity might be 
occurring. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

 (1) note the review of the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and the 
Anti-Money Laundering Policy;  

(2) note the review against the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the 
Risk of Fraud and Corruption Counter-Fraud Assessment Tool and Fighting 
Fraud and Corruption Locally 2016-19 Checklist; and  

 (3) note the anti-fraud activity. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1  The Audit Committee Work Programme for 2018/19 includes an annual review of the 
Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy.  This policy links very closely with the 
Whistleblowing Policy, which is reviewed biennially and was reviewed in September 
2017.  

3.2 There are a large number of bodies involved in anti-fraud activity. Officers monitor 
surveys and recommended good practice from many sources including: 

 the Cabinet Office, who run the National Fraud Initiative(NFI),  

 the National Crime Agency,  

 the Counter Fraud Centre, run by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA)  

 the Institution of Revenues, Rating and Valuation (IRRV), 

 Department of Work and Pensions (DWP)/Single Fraud Investigation Service 
(SFIS), 

 National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) 

 Lancashire fraud manager group. 

Page 93

Item No.9



Policies and Procedures 

3.3 The Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy forms part of the Council’s Policy 
Framework. The last review of the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy was by 
Audit Committee in December 2017 with no amendments required.   

3.4 CIPFA produced a new Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 
Corruption in October 2014.  Guidance notes on the implementation of the code were 
published in December 2014 and a Counter-Fraud Assessment Tool has now been 
produced and is included at Appendix 4.   

3.5 The Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer has prepared fraud and corruption risk assessment 
with Operational Managers and action plans for all Council services.  It has been 
used to inform the production of a draft Counter Fraud Strategy, incorporating an 
action plan, which was approved by Audit Committee in December 2017 and is 
attached at Appendix 2.   

3.6 The Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on 
the Payer) Regulations 2017 (MLR 2017) came into force on 26 June 2017 and 
implement the EU’s 4th Directive on Money Laundering.  They improve upon and fill 
certain gaps in the Money Laundering Regulations 2007 and the Transfer of Funds 
(Information on the Payer) Regulations 2007 which they replace.  Councils now are 
obliged to adopt a more risk-based approach towards anti-money laundering.  The 
Anti-Money Laundering Policy was approved by Audit Committee in December 2017 

 Assessment 

3.7 The Local Government counter fraud and corruption strategy, Fighting Fraud & 
Corruption Locally, has been updated in 2016 and sets out a strategy up to 2019.  
The report builds on earlier versions of Fighting Fraud Locally and developments 
such as the Serious and Organised Crime Strategy and the UK Anti-Corruption Plan.  
The vision of the national strategy is that by 2019: 

a) There is a culture in which fraud and corruption are unacceptable and 
everyone plays a part in eradicating them; 

b) By better understanding of risk and using technology local authorities will shut 
the door to fraudsters who try to access their systems or services; 

c) Local authorities will have invested in sustainable systems to tackle fraud and 
corruption and will see the results of recovery; 

d) Local authorities will be sharing information more effectively and by using 
advanced data technology will prevent and detect losses; 

e) Fraudsters will be brought to account quickly and efficiently and losses will be 
recovered. 

 The report acknowledges that local authorities have made significant progress in 
tackling fraud by acknowledging and understanding the risks they face and by 
collaborating, making more use of technology and information sharing to prevent 
fraud. 

3.8 The report highlights the changing ways in which fraudsters target existing areas of 
vulnerability.  Fraud prevention rather than just fraud detection will need to become 
an increasingly important part of the overall strategic response of councils to fraud. 

  Activity 

3.9 Following the move to Universal Credit a Single Fraud Investigation Service (SFIS) 
has been set up and fraud investigation staff from this Council transferred to the SFIS 
in July 2015.  The Council retained one member of the counter-fraud team as a 
Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer who works closely with both the Revenues and Benefits 
Team and the Finance Team in tackling fraud. 

Page 94



3.10 The Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer has also been involved in raising the profile of anti-
fraud and corruption in the authority.  This has included attending team meetings, 
briefing Operational managers and reviewing policies and practices related to 
Interviews under Caution across the Council to ensure consistency of practice.   

3.11 During 2016 the Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer carried out fraud risk assessments with 
Operational Managers.  This helps to direct her activity to key risk areas and has 
helped change procedures to reduce opportunity for fraud.  Compulsory fraud 
awareness training has been introduced for all new staff as part of the corporate 
induction process. 

3.12 The policy requires a central log to be kept of all reported cases of fraud and 
whistleblowing by the Assistant Director (Resources), which will be reported 
periodically to the Audit Committee.  The attached analysis in Appendix 6 
summarises the work undertaken and the outcome of investigations excluding 
National Fraud Initiative “NFI” investigations.  Investigations have included the 
submission of false invoices for flood grant claims, homeless applications and a 
review of council tax exemptions.  The Council is also working with South Lakes 
Housing to review all applications for Right-to-Buy as this has been identified 
nationally as an area of high risk and high value.  

3.13 The National Fraud Initiative matches electronic data within and between public and 
private sector bodies to prevent and detect fraud.  This includes police authorities, 
local probation boards, fire and rescue authorities as well as local councils and a 
number of private sector bodies.  There are now two separate NFI matching 
exercises: one is a biannual process including benefits, housing, licensing, employee 
and insurance data which will require the submission of data in October 2018.  The 
second exercise concerns Council Tax single person discounts and the electoral 
register which is conducted biannually when there is no full NFI exercise at the same 
time that the electoral register is finalised in December.  The Council’s Corporate 
Anti-Fraud Officer now leads on both the submission of data and the processing of 
matches for the NFI. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 Officers have reviewed best practice relating to anti-bribery, fraud and corruption.   

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 It is good practice to have an Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy.  No 
amendments are recommended. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 To embed a culture where bribery, fraud and corruption are not tolerated. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 This report has no direct financial implications.  Effective anti-fraud procedures 
minimise the likelihood of financial losses through fraud. 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no direct human resources implications of this report. 

Legal 

7.3 There is a criminal offence of failing to prevent bribery under the Bribery Act 2010 
and if convicted an organisation can be liable to an unlimited fine. Therefore the 
review of this policy and compliance has an important role in minimising the risks to 
the Council arising from this legislation. 

Page 95



Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No      

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
review of the anti-fraud policy has no direct HSEE implications. 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No 

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
review of the anti-fraud policy has no direct Equality and Diversity implications. 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Failure to have an Anti-Fraud 
and Corruption Policy in place. 

There will be no high level 
direction to the way in 
which fraudulent or corrupt 
acts are reported, 
investigated or dealt with. 

 

Fraud and corruption will 
not be detected resulting 
in significant losses in 
council finances and bad 
publicity. 

 

Lack of procedures to 
prevent bribery may lead 
to prosecution  

A policy that clearly 
reflects the Council’s 
stance on fraud and 
corruption which acts as a 
deterrent to potential 
fraudsters. 

A policy that clearly 
defines responsibilities 
and the introduction of 
monitoring arrangements 
to highlight high risk areas. 

A policy that clearly 
defines bribery and 
defines responsibilities for 
ensuring ‘adequate 
procedures’ to prevent 
bribery. 

Failure to have effective Anti-
fraud monitoring in place 

Fraud and corruption will 
not be detected resulting 
in significant losses in 
Council finances and bad 
publicity 

A Policy that clearly 
identifies responsibilities 
and monitoring 
arrangements to highlight 
high risk areas. 

Contact Officers 

Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, 01539 793147, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 
 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

(delete if no appendices attached) 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy 

2 Counter Fraud Strategy 2017-2020 

3 Anti-Money Laundering Policy  

4 CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 
Corruption Counter-Fraud Assessment Tool 

Page 96



Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

5 Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 2016-19 Checklist 

6 Fraud data to end of July 2018 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Fighting Fraud Locally: the 
local government fraud 
strategy 

http://tinyurl.com/mo55pnz 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services 23/8/18 

Section 151 Officer 23/8/18 

Monitoring Officer 23/8/18 

SMT 30/8/18 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 23/8/18 

Human Resources Manager 23/8/18 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee N/A 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 97

http://tinyurl.com/mo55pnz


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98



South Lakeland District Council 
Anti-bribery fraud and corruption policy 

Contents 

Policy document ................................................................................................................ 2 
1 Introduction ................................................................................................................ 2 
2 Overview .................................................................................................................... 3 
3 Corporate framework and culture ............................................................................... 4 
4 Prevention and responsibilities ................................................................................... 5 

4.1 Council employees .............................................................................................. 5 
4.2 Members ............................................................................................................. 7 
4.3 Internal Control Systems ..................................................................................... 7 
4.4 Combining with others to prevent and fight fraud ................................................. 8 

5 Reporting, detection and investigation ........................................................................ 9 
6 Training and awareness ........................................................................................... 11 
7 Deterrence ............................................................................................................... 12 
8 Review ..................................................................................................................... 12 
9 Conclusions .............................................................................................................. 12 

Appendix 1

Page 99



2 

Policy document 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Fraud is one of the fastest growing areas of crime in modern society and residents of 
South Lakeland are entitled to expect that their public funds are secure and handled 
honestly and conduct its affairs with integrity and honesty. South Lakeland District 
Council has a good record in preventing and identifying fraud but cannot afford to be 
complacent. Fraud diverts money away from front line public services and prevention 
and detection of fraud is the responsibility of all staff. South Lakeland District Council 
has a duty to ensure that it safeguards the public money that it is responsible for. In 
carrying out its functions and responsibilities, the Council wishes to promote a culture 
of openness and fairness and expects all those who work and with the Council to 
adopt the highest standards of propriety and accountability. 

1.2 The Council is committed to eliminating all forms of bribery, fraud and corruption by 
having adequate prevention measures in place. All suspicions of bribery, fraud or 
corrupt practise will be investigated and there will be no distinction made in 
investigation and action between those that generate financial benefits and those that 
do not. Any investigation will not compromise the Council’s commitment to Equal 
Opportunities or the requirements of the Human Rights Act. The Council advocates 
strict adherence to its anti-fraud framework. The Council will not tolerate bribery, 
fraud or corruption by its employees, councillors, suppliers, contractors or partners. 
This Policy is intended to provide a clear statement of intent and responsibilities for: 

a) Preventing bribery, fraud and corruption and
b) The investigation, reporting and handling of alleged irregularities

This Policy outlines the Council’s commitment to eliminating fraud and corruption, 
whilst creating an anti-fraud culture and maintaining high ethical standards so as to 
protect public money. 

1.3 The Policy is based on a series of comprehensive and inter-related procedures, 
designed to prevent, detect and deter fraud and to take effective action against any 
attempted or actual fraudulent act affecting the Council. These procedures will keep 
pace with any future developments in both preventative and detection techniques 
regarding fraudulent or corrupt activity that may affect the Council’s operations. The 
Policy also satisfies the legislative requirements of having effective arrangements for 
tackling fraud and conforms to professional guidance laid down in the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).

Page 100



3 

2 Overview 

The Council is required to maintain an effective internal audit of its activities, with a 
key role to monitor the effectiveness of internal controls operating within the Council. 
The Internal Audit function is currently provided by Cumbria Internal Audit Shared 
Service. 

For ease of understanding this policy is separated into four areas as below 

• Corporate Framework and Culture

• Prevention and Responsibilities

• Reporting, Detection and Investigation

• Awareness and Deterrence

Fraud is defined in the Fraud Act 2006 as: 

• “the intentional distortion of financial statements or other records by persons
internal or external to the organisation which is carried out to mislead or
misrepresent”

The Fraud Act also sets out a general offence of fraud as follows: 

• “A dishonest act where a perpetrator intends to make a gain for themselves or
cause loss to another”

The offence of fraud is defined in three classes. 

• False representation

• Failing to disclose information

• Abuse of position

Corruption is described as “the offering, giving, soliciting or acceptance of an 
inducement or reward which may influence the action of any person”. 

Under the 2010 Bribery Act, a bribe is 

• “An inducement or a reward offered, promised or provided to gain personal,
commercial, regulatory or contractual advantage”

There are four criminal offences created by the Bribery Act 2010: 

• Bribery of another person (section 1) to induce or reward them to perform a
function improperly

• Requesting or accepting a bribe (section 2) as a reward for performing a function
improperly

• Bribing a foreign official (section 6) to gain a business advantage

• Failing to prevent bribery (section 7)

Page 101



4 

Bribery may not always be monetary and may include gifts or hospitality. The last 
offence is a corporate offence which places responsibility on the Council to put in 
place adequate procedures to prevent bribery. 

Anyone found guilty of an offence under sections 1, 2, or 6 is liable: 

• On conviction in a magistrates court, to imprisonment for a maximum term of 12
months or to a fine not exceeding £5000 or both

• On conviction in a crown court, to imprisonment for a maximum term of ten
years, or to an unlimited fine, or both.

Organisations found guilty of an offence under section 7 are liable to an unlimited 
fine. 

It is irrelevant whether the request is made directly or through a third party or whether 
the advantage is for the benefit of the person performing the function or for the  
benefit of another person. Employees should always be aware of the possibility they 
may be targeted for attempted bribery. 

NOTE: Throughout this policy the term “Fraud” is used generically and 
includes bribery and corruption and this policy covers all of the above. 

In addition to the above, the Council also expects the residents of South Lakeland to 
be honest in their dealings with the authority. 

3 Corporate framework and culture 

3.1 The prevention and detection of fraud and the protection of public money are 
responsibilities of everyone, both internal and external to the organisation. The 
Council expects that Members and officers at all levels will lead by example in 
ensuring adherence to legal requirement, contracts procedure rules, financial 
procedure rules, codes of conduct and best practice. They are positively encouraged 
to raise any concerns regarding fraud, immaterial of seniority or status in the 
knowledge that any such concerns wherever possible, will be treated in confidence. 

3.2 This policy should be read in conjunction with a range of interrelated policies which 
provide a corporate framework to counter fraudulent activity. 

• Codes of Conduct for Members and officers [Part 5 of the Constitution of the
Council]

• A Register of Interests

• Registers of Gifts and Hospitality

• Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules [Part 4 of the
Constitution of the Council]

• Accounting procedures and records including general procedures for receiving
income

• Sound internal control systems

Page 102



5 

• Effective internal audit, currently provided by Cumbria Internal Audit Shared
Service

• Officer Employment Procedure Rules

• Disciplinary Procedure

• Criminal Acts Procedure

• Fraud Investigation Procedures and Guidelines

• Whistleblowing Policy

• The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) Procedure

• Training

3.3 The Council believes that the maintenance of a culture of honesty and openness is a 
key element in tackling fraud. The Codes of Conduct for Members and Staff are 
based on the Nolan Principles of Standards in Public Life, these being 

• Selflessness

• Integrity

• Objectivity

• Accountability

• Openness

• Honesty

• Leadership

The overall culture supports intolerance stance towards fraud, bribery and corruption. 
Failure to uphold these Codes will be considered as detrimental to the aims of the 
Council and will lead to the appropriate action being taken against those concerned. 

4 Prevention and responsibilities 

The Council recognises that incidences of fraud and corruption are costly, both in 
terms of reputational risk and financial losses. The prevention of fraud is therefore a 
key objective of the authority and respective roles and responsibilities are outlined 
below. 

4.1 Council employees 

4.1.1 A key preventative measure in dealing with fraud is to take effective steps at the 
recruitment stage. These will be to establish, as far as possible, the previous record 
of potential staff, in terms of their honesty and integrity. In this regard, temporary, 
casual and agency staff should be treated in the same manner as permanent officers.

Page 103



6 

4.1.2 Staff recruitment will be undertaken in accordance with the Council's policies for 
Recruitment and Selection. Whenever possible, written references should be 
obtained regarding the known honesty and integrity of potential members of staff, 
before formal employment offers are made. 

4.1.3 For all appointments to posts where the employee will: 

• have access to corporate computer systems or

• be required to order goods or authorise invoices or

• be required to handle cash or cheques or

• negotiate contracts for the supply of goods or services

or for any other post which the responsible Director considers appropriate, the 
Council will seek a declaration from applicants that they have not been involved in 
false claims for Housing Benefit and/or Council Tax Discounts. The declaration will 
be sought in respect of successful applications and with their agreement. This 
process will be made clear in recruitment packs. Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) checks are undertaken for employees deemed to be working in appropriate 
roles.  

4.1.4 All staff must abide by the Council's Code of Conduct for Officers, which sets out 
requirements on personal conduct. All professional staff are expected to follow the 
codes of conduct laid down by their respective professional institute or trades body. 

4.1.5 The Council recognises that staff are often the first line of defence in preventing 
fraud. The Financial Procedure Rules place responsibility for fraud prevention on all 
employees and all employees of the Council have a duty to assist with an 
investigation. They are expected to conduct themselves in ways which are beyond 
reproach, above suspicion and fully accountable. Employees are expected to be 
aware of the possibility that fraud, corruption and theft may exist in the workplace and 
be able to share their concerns with appropriate officers. 

4.1.6 The Council has in place disciplinary procedures for all employees and these will be 
used to facilitate a thorough investigation of any allegations of improper behaviour by 
employees. Those found to have committed any acts of misconduct will face 
disciplinary action. Where criminal activity is suspected or found, the matter will be 
referred to the police for investigation and possible prosecution, in accordance with 
the Criminal Acts Procedure. In addition, the Council will pursue recovery for any 
financial loss. 

4.1.7 Under the Council's Constitution, staff must be aware of the disclosure of financial 
interests in contracts relating to the Council, or the non-acceptance of any fees, gifts, 
hospitality or any other rewards, other than their proper remuneration. These 
requirements are set out in Part 5 of the Constitution of the Council. 

4.1.8 The Council is required to comply with legislation relating to money laundering and 
there is a separate Anti-Money Laundering policy. There is a legal requirement for 
employees to report any financial transactions which could be indicative or criminal 
action to the Section 151 Officer, the Assistant Director Resources.

Page 104



7 

4.2 Members 

4.2.1 As elected representatives, all Members of the Council have a duty to the residents 
of South Lakeland to protect the Council and public money from any acts of fraud. 
This is done through this policy and through the regulations below. 

4.2.2 Members are required to operate within: 

• Member Code of Conduct

• Sections 94-96 of the Local Government Act 1972

• Sections 27-34 of the Localism Act 2011

• Part 5 of the Constitution of the Council

4.2.3 These matters and other guidance are specifically brought to the attention of new 
Members at induction courses. They include rules on the declaration of disclosable 
financial and other registerable interests. 

4.2.4 Members will face appropriate action under this policy if they are found to have been 
involved in theft, fraud or corruption against the Authority. Action will be taken in 
addition to, or instead of criminal proceedings, depending on the circumstances of 
each individual case but in a consistent manner. 

4.2.5 After approving an Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy, Members will be expected to 
play an important role through leading by example and being seen to support it. 

4.2.6 The Council has in place an Overview and Scrutiny process. Its remit includes the 
review of decisions and actions undertaken by the Council. Any matter arising from 
this process, in which fraud is suspected, can be referred to the Council’s internal 
auditors for independent investigation. 

4.2.7 The Council has a Standards Committee, which sets and monitors standards of 
conduct to and examines issues of potential misconduct by Members. 

4.3 Internal Control Systems 

4.3.1 The Council has Financial and Contract Procedure Rules, Accounting Procedures 
and various rules and codes of conduct in place. Staff are required to comply with 
this best practice when dealing with the Council's affairs. 

4.3.2 The Assistant Director (Resources) has a statutory responsibility under Section 151 
of the Local Government Act 1972, to ensure proper arrangements are made for the 
Council's financial affairs. “Proper administration” encompasses all aspects of local 
authority financial management. 

4.3.3 In addition, under the Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) 2011, the Council is 
required to maintain an adequate and effective internal audit of its financial records 
and systems of internal control.  

4.3.4 The Council's aim is to have sound financial systems and procedures, which 
incorporate efficient and effective internal controls. Effective role separation will 
guarantee decisions made are seen to be based upon impartial advice and ensure

Page 105



8 
 

that no single individual has complete authority over one transaction. Directors and 
Assistant Directors are responsible for maintaining effective internal controls 
including the prevention and detection of fraud and other illegal acts. The Council’s 
internal auditors will monitor and report upon these controls. 

4.4 Combining with others to prevent and fight fraud 

4.4.1 The Council acknowledges that it cannot afford to work in isolation and must liaise 
with other organisations. There are a variety of arrangements in place and these will 
continue to be developed, which facilitate the regular exchange of information 
between the Council and other local authorities and agencies, for the purpose of 
preventing and detecting fraud. These involve national, regional and local networks of 
investigators such as internal auditors, fraud investigators etc. All liaisons are subject 
to observance of Data Protection legislation and due regard to the proper handling of 
confidential information. 

4.4.2 The Council operates to the standards previously set out in the Verification 
Framework (VF) in line with central government initiatives to reduce fraud and error in 
Housing and Council Tax Benefit (Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme from April 
2013). 

4.4.3 South Lakeland District Council is a member of the National Anti-Fraud Network 
(NAFN) which is a not-for-profit organisation which supports its members in 
protecting the public interest. Key benefits include the gathering of information in full 
compliance with the law from a wide range of information providers in response to 
allegations of fraud and on-going investigations and acting as a hub for the collection, 
collation and circulation of intelligence alerts. 

4.4.4 The Council also undertakes specific initiatives to detect fraud. Examples include 

• Data matching both internally and with the Cabinet Office. This is recognised as 
an important tool in the prevention and detection of fraud, and is used by all 
other local authorities. The Audit Commission drew up a Code of Data Matching 
Practice for its National Fraud Initiative (NFI), which is recognised by the 
Information Commissioner as complying with Data Protection legislation. The 
Council contributes to this bi-annual National Fraud Initiative led by the Cabinet 
Office and involves comparing computer records held by one body against other 
computer records held by the same or another body to see how far they match. 
This is usually personal information and computerised data matching allows 
potentially fraudulent claims and payments to be identified. No assumption can 
be made as to whether there is fraud, error or other explanation until an 
investigation is carried out. 

• Data matching via the Housing Benefit Matching Service (HBMS)which identifies 
irregularities in claims for Housing Benefit. 

4.4.5 The Council has also introduced a Benefit Fraud Hotline, to allow members of the 
public to report individuals who are suspected of abusing the benefits system.

Page 106



9 

5 Reporting, detection and investigation 

5.1 It is the responsibility of Directors and Assistant Directors to maintain good control 
systems and ensure that all staff complies with these systems. 

5.2 The Council’s internal auditor, currently Cumbria Internal Audit Shared Service, has a 
planned programme to undertake a cyclical programme of audits to test for fraud and 
corruption, based on a risk assessment model. This includes liaison with external 
audit when considering the programme of audits. 

5.3 Despite the best efforts of managers and auditors, many frauds are discovered by the 
vigilance of staff or a member of the public and there are procedures in place to 
enable such information to be properly dealt with. In addition, members of the public 
may wish to raise concerns relating to areas of local authority responsibility. In such 
cases there is a requirement within the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules for staff 
to: 

• Report actual or suspected instances of fraud to the Director concerned who
shall immediately notify the Assistant Director (Resources) who shall take such
steps as he considers necessary by way of investigation

• The Assistant Director (Resources) will decide whether to involve the Police in
matters of serious fraud and inform the Leader of the Council or appropriate
Chairman accordingly.

5.4 There is a dedicated Verification team responsible for conducting evidence checks in 
line with Verification Framework procedures, the Housing Benefit (General) 
Regulations and the Council Tax Benefit (General) Regulations. 

Evidence checks will include: 

• Identity

• Residency and rent

• Household composition

• Earnings, employed and self- employed

• Benefits

• Income

• Capital

The Team will also report any allegations of fraud to the Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer 
who will carry out initial enquiries and assess the claim for suitability for referral to the 
Department for Works and Pensions investigations team. Risk assessment will be 
undertaken to direct cases to the resources deemed to be the highest risk in terms of 
loss to the public purse. Separate guidelines and Codes of Practice for the 
prosecution of offenders are in place, including a Code of Conduct for Fraud 
investigators and practices for the treatment and questioning of persons and tape 
recording of interviews. 

5.5 Money laundering is the practice whereby criminals attempt to “clean” the proceeds 
of criminal activity by passing it through a legitimate institution. All staff who receive

Page 107



10 
 

cash as part of their duties will be vigilant for any unusual transactions that might 
indicate that an attempt is being made to launder money. As an additional safeguard 
receipt of notes, coins or travellers’ cheques will not be accepted over £5,000 for any 
one transaction. Note: A separate Anti-Money Laundering policy refers. 

5.6 Reporting suspected irregularities is essential to the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy 
and ensures: 

• consistent treatment of information regarding fraud and corruption 

• proper investigation by an experienced team 

• the optimum protection of the Council's interests 

Although this document specifically refers to bribery, fraud and corruption, it equally 
applies to any forms of malpractice that can reduce public confidence in the Council 
and its services and may also include acts committed outside of official duties but 
which impact upon the Council’s trust in the individual concerned. As part of the 
culture, the Council will provide clear routes by which concerns can be raised by both 
Members and officers and those outside who are providing using or paying for public 
services. Staff will report any irregularities to the Assistant Director concerned who 
will refer all cases to the Head of Internal Audit and to his/her director. The Assistant 
Director and the Assistant Director (Resources) will determine if an investigation is 
necessary. The Assistant Director (Resources) will decide whether to involve the 
Police in cases where an offence is suspected and inform the Leader of the Council 
or the appropriate Chairman accordingly. Every concern raised will be centrally and 
formally recorded through the Head of Internal Audit. Details of all concerns will be 
periodically reported to the Audit Committee. 

5.7 Depending on the nature and anticipated extent of the allegations, the Assistant 
Director (Resources) may involve Cumbria Internal Audit Shared Service who work 
closely with: 

• Departmental Management 

• Human Resources Group 

• Legal Services 

• Other agencies, such as the Police 

This is to ensure that all allegations and evidence are properly investigated and 
reported upon, and that where appropriate, recoveries are made for the Council. 

5.8 The Council's Whistleblowing Policy provides a clear path for individuals to raise 
concerns of malpractice in any aspect of the Council’s work, without the fear of 
recrimination or victimisation. The Council will take appropriate action to protect any 
individual who has raised a concern in good faith. The Policy deals with the reporting 
of fraud or alleged fraud through formal channels. The Policy also covers making 
disclosures to external bodies if there is an unsatisfactory outcome to a disclosure 
made internally.  

The Fraud Hotline phone facility (01539 793249) is available to staff, suppliers and 
members of the public for raising whistleblowing concerns. All calls will be specifically 
logged, treated confidentially and investigated through the most appropriate means.

Page 108



11 

5.9 For employees that are suspected of fraud a full investigation under the Council’s 
Disciplinary Policy and Procedure will take place. If the individual is found guilty of 
any wrongdoing this could ultimately lead to action taking place including dismissal. It 
should be noted that an allegation does not mean that person or company is guilty of 
any wrong-doing and so they will not be treated as such until the case is proven. 

5.10 Where financial misconduct is discovered relating to employees or Members, or grant 
aided voluntary organisations, the matter may be referred to the Police in accordance 
with the Criminal Acts Procedure. Such decisions are a matter for the Assistant 
Director (Resources) in consultation with the Director concerned. Referral to the 
Police will not necessarily prohibit action under the disciplinary procedure. 

5.11 The Council's External Auditor, Grant Thornton, appointed by the Audit Commission, 
also has powers to independently investigate bribery fraud and corruption. 

6 Training and awareness 

6.1 The Council recognises that the success and credibility of this policy will depend 
largely on how effectively it is communicated throughout the organisation and 
beyond. To this end, appropriate action will be taken to raise awareness levels and 
details of the Policy will be provided to all Members and all staff and be included on 
induction programmes. The Policy will also be shown on the Council’s website and 
be available on the Intranet. 

6.2 The Council supports the concept of induction training, particularly for officers 
involved in internal control systems, to ensure that their responsibilities and duties in 
this respect are regularly highlighted and reinforced. 

6.3 The officers involved in the review of internal control systems and investigative work 
should be properly and regularly trained. Those involved with fraud investigation will 
be required to hold a relevant Counter Fraud qualification and during the course of 
the investigation, the following actions will be taken 

• A fraud log will be maintained, detailing every action taken during the
investigation, including dates and times that each action undertaken was carried
out

• As much documentary evidence as possible will be obtained before any
interviews are conducted

• All evidence will be obtained lawfully, properly recorded and retained securely in
accordance with the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) and the
Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996

• Fact finding interviews will be conducted during the course of the investigation. If
at any time during these interviews it becomes clear that a criminal offence may
have occurred, the fact finding interview will be ended and the interviewee will be
formally cautioned. The interviewee will then be formally interviewed under
caution in accordance with PACE.

6.4 It is the responsibility of Assistant Directors to communicate the Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Policy to their staff and to promote a greater awareness of fraud within 
their services.

Page 109



12 

7 Deterrence 

7.1 There are a number of ways in which we seek to deter a bribe or potential fraudsters 
from committing or attempting fraudulent or corrupt acts, whether they are inside or 
outside of the Council, and these include: 

• publicising the fact the Council is firmly set against fraud and corruption and
states this at every appropriate opportunity, e.g. statements in contracts, on
claim forms, on the Council’s website and in publicity literature both internal and
external.

• acting robustly and decisively when fraud and corruption is suspected and
proven, to deter others from committing offences against the Authority, e.g. the
termination of contracts, the dismissal and/or prosecution of offenders

• taking action to effect the maximum recoveries for the Council, e.g. through
agreement, court action, penalties, insurance, superannuation etc

• having sound internal control systems, that still allow for innovation and
calculated risk, but at the same time minimising the opportunity for fraud and
corruption.

8 Review 

8.1 This policy will be reviewed at appropriate times in response to procedural and legal 
changes. 

9 Conclusions 

9.1 The Council has in place a robust network of systems and procedures to assist it in 
the fight against fraud and corruption and pledges to take all action necessary to 
identify such cases. It is determined that these arrangements will keep pace with any 
future developments in both preventative and detection techniques regarding 
fraudulent or corrupt activity that may affect its operation or related responsibilities. 
To this end, the Council maintains a continuous overview of such arrangements. 

9.2 The Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy provides a comprehensive framework 
for preventing and tackling fraudulent and corrupt acts against the authority. The 
approval of the Policy by the full Council demonstrates a commitment to protecting 
public funds and minimising losses to fraud and corruption. Having made this 
commitment, it is imperative that Directors and Assistant Directors put in place 
arrangements for disseminating the Policy and promoting fraud awareness, 
throughout their services. 

December 2015 

Page 110



Counter Fraud Strategy 2017-2020 

Introduction 

1. South Lakeland District Council has a zero tolerance of fraud and corruption. This is 
confirmed in the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and this Strategy sets out 
the approach being taken to deliver the policy aims and objectives. 

2. Minimising fraud and irregularity is essential, never more so than in times of austerity, 
to ensure that resources intended to provide essential services to South Lakeland 
communities are used for that purpose. Fraud committed against the Council is a 
theft of taxpayers’ money, can cause reputational damage and a loss of confidence 
amongst the public or stakeholders and have an adverse effect on staff morale.  

3. Through effective counter-measures the Council can reduce the risk of error, loss 
and fraud. These include arrangements to acknowledge, deter, prevent, detect, 
investigate and prosecute wrongdoing. 

4. Minimising fraud and irregularity is everyone’s business. Whilst specialist staff have a 
key role, the Council expects the highest standards of probity, propriety and conduct 
from all Members, employees and contractors. This includes a requirement to act 
lawfully and to comply at all times with the Council’s policies and procedures and 
relevant legislation and regulations. 

5. Minimising fraud and irregularity is a continual process. Whilst practical 
arrangements will evolve over time to reflect changes internal and external to the 
organisation, there is a constant need for vigilance and appropriate action to address 
risks. Change arising from financial pressures; growth of alternative models to 
commissioning and service delivery; and continued development of collaborative, 
integrated and joint working require the approach to be regularly reviewed and 
refreshed.  

6. Minimising fraud and irregularity can be complex. The legislative and policy 
framework in relation to counter fraud is extensive including but not limited to; 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 
2013, Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, the Bribery Act 2010 and Money Laundering, 
Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer) Regulations 
2017. This is in addition to the Council Constitution and Codes of Conduct that are 
based on a wide range of other legislation. 

7. To deliver successfully against the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and 
given the scale and pace of change within the organisation the Council’s approach 
and key priorities for the next three years is confirmed in this Strategy. 

Definition 

8. Throughout this document the term fraud and irregularity has been used to refer to 
acts of corruption, fraud, bribery, money laundering, wrongdoing, loss and error. 

Objectives 

9. The key aim of the Counter Fraud Strategy is to ensure that public funds entrusted to 
the Council are protected against fraud and loss. To do these the key objectives of 
this strategy are: 

Acknowledge 

 

Continue development of the ‘anti-fraud’ culture which 
highlights the Council’s zero tolerance of fraud, corruption 
and theft, defines roles and responsibilities and actively 
engages everyone including service users, the public, 
Members, staff, schools, contractors and partners. 

Deter 

Appendix 2 

Page 111



Prevent 

 

Provide a centralised best practice counter fraud service in 
Finance which: 

 Proactively detects error, loss, fraud, corruption and 
theft; 

 Investigates suspected or detected fraud, corruption and 
theft; 

 Enables the Council to apply appropriate sanctions and 
recover losses wherever possible; 

 Works in effective collaboration with services across the 
Council and with partners to support counter fraud 
activity; and 

 Drives action to inform policy, system and control 
improvements, thereby reducing the Council’s exposure 
to fraudulent activity. 

Detect 

 

Investigate 

 

Pursue 

 

10. The effectiveness of this strategy will be subject to annual review, by the Financial 
Services Manager, Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer, Internal Audit Manager, Section 151 
Officer and the Audit Committee. 

Scope 

11. This Strategy and associated policies apply to the activities of all Council employees 
and Members. The Council has chosen to extend this Strategy so that it also applies 
to Council engagement with consultants, contractors, suppliers, Council funded 
voluntary bodies and individuals, partners and any other external agencies.  When 
contracting, or working in partnership, with the Council, organisations and individuals 
will be expected to comply with this Strategy and any policies that sit under it. 

Policy Framework for Preventing Fraud and Irregularity 

12. This Strategy is part of the Council’s overall Counter-Fraud Policy Framework and 
should be read in conjunction with the Constitution, Financial Regulations, Human 
Resources Policies, Codes of Conduct for Members and Officers and other related 
policies and procedures. 

13. The Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee include the review of effectiveness 
of anti-fraud and corruption arrangements throughout the Council. To support the 
Audit Committee in this role the Assistant Director (Resources) and s151 Officer 
reports annually on the policy framework and in particular the level of fraud detected. 
The Committee, within its Terms of Reference oversee changes to the Counter-
Fraud Policy Framework. 

14. The key documents comprising the Counter Fraud Policy Framework are: 

a) Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy: identifies a number of key principles 
outlining the overall approach to combating fraudulent activity against the 
Council. 

b) Counter Fraud Strategy: sets out priorities, objectives and actions to respond to 
identified fraud risks. 

c) Whistleblowing Policy: Explains how members, employees, agency staff, 
contractors and members of the public can raise concerns about suspected fraud 
and other malpractice in a confidential manner. 

d) Anti-Money Laundering Policy: Defines the responsibilities of officers in respect of 
the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, Terrorism Act 2000 and the Money Laundering 
Regulations 2017. 

Page 112



e) Corporate complaints process: Provides guidance for Council officers to deal with 
complaints within agreed standards. Complaints can be one way in which 
individuals submit concerns and allegations regarding fraud and irregularity. 

f) Guidance on Surveillance under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000: Provides guidance for Council officers on carrying out surveillance.  

g) Fraud Risk Assessment: Sets out the fraud risks facing the Council based on 
events which have occurred, intelligence of events occurring elsewhere and 
issues which may represent a potential future threat. 

Roles and Responsibilities 

15. Leadership for the delivery of the Counter Fraud Strategy resides with the Assistant 
Director (Resources) and s151 Officer and the Financial Services Manager. 

16. Governance of the strategy and delivery of key responsibilities resides with the 
Financial Services Manager and the Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer. 

17. Service areas also contribute to the delivery of the strategy, including but not limited 
to Revenues and Benefits, Development Control and Public Protection Teams as 
these teams lead the prevention and detection of error, irregularity and fraud in their 
areas of responsibility. 

18. Expert, corporate support in addressing fraud and irregularity risks is provided by the 
Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer within the Financial Services team, Procurement team, 
ICT, Legal Services and Partnerships and Organisational Development. 

19. The Chief Executive, all Directors, Assistant Directors, managers and staff have a 
responsibly for remaining aware of the risks of fraud and irregularity, for obtaining 
assurance that these are being appropriately addressed and for raising risks or 
issues with senior management and internal audit. 

20. Member roles and responsibilities in relation to the prevention of fraud and corruption 
are discharged through the Audit Committee in conjunction with Standards 
Committee and Executive. These roles are detailed within the Council’s Anti-Bribery, 
Fraud and Corruption Policy and the Council’s Constitution. 

Approach to Countering Fraud 

21. A dedicated and specialist resource within the Finance Section develops and 
coordinates the Council’s overall approach to protecting its assets and finances from 
fraud, corruption, bribery and loss. Work is focused within each of the key elements 
of acknowledge, deter, prevent, detect, investigate and recover. 

22. Fraud by its very nature is hidden, and conducted in such a manner that fraudulent 
acts are actively concealed. It is therefore vital to maintain a strong anti-fraud culture, 
and advocate a zero tolerance approach. This not only provides a deterrent to 
potential fraudsters, but also encourages an environment where individuals feel 
comfortable coming forward to raise concerns. 

 

Robust 
Framework 

Developing a 
robust counter-

fraud and bribery 
framework 

Making an 
Impact 

Developing a 
strong anti-fraud 
and corruption 

culture 

Delivering 
Change 

Proactive 
prevention and 

detection 

Page 113



23. This Strategy is informed by the Council’s objectives and has incorporated guidance 
and best practice on combating fraud within local government, devised from a 
number of different sources including: 

• Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally – The Local Government Fraud 
Strategy 

• Protecting the Public Purse 

• CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption 

24. Nationally recognised fraud risks reported across the sector and which this Strategy 
seeks to assure and address are: 

 Property transactions 

 Employees 

 Contracts, Commissioning and Procurement, including mandate fraud 

 Right to Buy (in conjunction with South Lakes Housing) 

 Insurance 

 Third party grants etc 

 Council Tax Reduction 

 Business Rate reliefs 

 Cyber fraud 

Culture 

25.  The Council is committed to the highest ethical standards of corporate and personal 
conduct. The three fundamental public service values of accountability, probity and 
openness and a strong anti-fraud culture are a key element of the defence against 
fraud, corruption and bribery. Codes of Conduct, policies and procedures promoted 
across the Council are consistent with the ‘Seven Principles of Public Life’ put 
forward by the Nolan Committee and The Council expects all staff, including 
contractors and Members to make themselves aware of and follow these principles. 
Further information can be found at http://www.public-standards.gov.uk/ 

Deterrence 

26. The Council develops and promotes a strong counter fraud culture. Finance and 
other services work with Performance and Organisational Development and 
Communications to raise staff and public awareness which include the following: 

• Prominent publication and communication of the Council’s zero tolerance 
stance against fraud and the overall strategy for combating it. 

• Making clear to staff and residents how and to who they can report concerns. 

• Delivering a fraud awareness programme including workshops and training, 
to ensure the profile of fraud risk remains high in particular amongst Council 
staff and Members but also contractors and partners. 

• Publicising the results of pro-active work and the Council’s success in 
identifying and taking strong action against fraudsters. 

Prevention 

27. Prevention is often the best and most efficient way to tackle fraud and prevent losses 
to the Council. This requires a robust control environment. Wherever appropriate and 
cost effective to apply, the Council will design and implement controls to prevent 
fraud and irregularity. Internal Audit will continue to work with managers and core 
services including Legal, Performance and Organisational Development and Finance 
to ensure new and existing systems, procedures and policy initiatives consider fraud 
risks. 

Page 114



28. As part of its annual Internal Audit plan and in particular the pro-active counter fraud 
work the Internal Audit Section reviews those areas of activity deemed to be at 
greater risk to fraud and corruption and works with management to recommend 
suitable, preventative controls and confirm these are implemented as planned. 

Detection 

29. Finance maintain a centralised log of all fraud and irregularity referrals received 
within the organisation. The log helps to assess those areas within the Council that 
are most vulnerable to the risk of fraud. This enables a Council wide fraud profile to 
be created which informs audit work aimed at detecting existing and new types of 
fraudulent activity. This knowledge also informs and helps direct the allocation of staff 
resources across the audit team ensuring a flexible approach is maintained and 
sufficient coverage is obtained across both the reactive and proactive counter fraud 
programmes as well as wider planned audit work. 

30. A range of actions are already in place in relation to the detection of fraud, irregularity 
and loss: 

• All staff are expected to comply consistently and routinely with internal 
controls designed to bring data anomalies and other indicators of fraud to the 
attention of management. As with preventative controls, the Council’s Internal 
Audit Section reviews the adequacy of fraud detection controls in key systems 
and makes recommendations for weaknesses to be addressed. 

• The Council participates fully in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and 
remains open to participation in other relevant national or regional 
opportunities to detect fraud through data-matching exercises. 

• Internal Audit carries out targeted, analytical reviews of key systems and 
services to identify indicators of fraudulent activity. 

• The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy is prominently publicised to encourage 
staff, Members, contractors and partners to raise any genuine suspicions they 
may have. Services across the Council participate in national and regional 
counter-fraud networks and take prompt action to review the relevance to the 
Council of alerts or issues shared across these groups. 

31. Changes and developments in the Council’s internal systems and procedures may 
adversely impact upon the established controls to prevent fraud. The impact on the 
fraud risk in changing systems and procedures will be evaluated through timely 
liaison between the business and Internal Audit to help minimise the exposure to risk. 

Investigate 

32. Where there are genuine grounds to suspect fraud, irregularity or corruption, the 
Council is committed to ensuring that all cases are investigated promptly, effectively 
and fully.  

33. All matters involving suspected criminal activity are referred to the Police at the 
earliest opportunity. The referral decision will be taken by the Director of Policy and 
Resources (Monitoring Officer) or her nominated representatives. 

34. In support of the Council’s zero tolerance stance, there shall be a general 
presumption that the Council will request prosecute offenders in all cases of fraud, 
corruption, bribery and theft.  The Solicitor to the Council will develop an 
Enforcement Policy to be applied on a case by case basis. Where the Police or 
Crown Prosecution Service decide not to charge offenders, the Council will consider 
bringing private prosecution, to be considered on a case by case basis. 

35. The Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer regularly liaises with colleagues from Legal 
Services regarding casework.  Where fraud or corrupt acts have been committed by 

Page 115



an employee of the Council colleagues from Human Resources will be involved. In 
such circumstances it may be decided not to pursue matters further until any external 
investigations and/or enforcement action are concluded. 

Recovery of Losses Incurred 

36. A crucial element of the Council’s response to tackling fraud is seeking financial 
redress. The recovery of defrauded monies is an important part of the Strategy and 
where it is practical, action will be taken to recover the loss from the individual or 
organisation concerned. Where criminality has been proven then the Proceeds of 
Crime Act 2002 may where appropriate be used to recover funds. Other methods of 
recovery may include, but are not confined to: 

• civil proceedings; 

• unlawful profit orders and compensation orders; 

• bankruptcy if it is believed the individual has a poor history of paying; and 

• recovery from future salary payments. 

Fraud Awareness and Training 

37. During the period covered by this Strategy, work will be undertaken based on the 
fraud risk assessment and other indicators to identify where further opportunities and 
requirements for counter fraud training may be appropriate.  Consideration will be 
given to a range of media including e-learning, workshops, newsletters, intranet and 
cascade of key messages. The effectiveness of training and other fraud awareness 
activities will be evaluated to inform future planning. 

38. The Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer and Performance and Organisational Development 
will establish a training plan to enhance employees’ ability to deliver the Strategy. 
The specific content of the training will be subject to review as part of the Annual 
Fraud Report, but its key components are likely to include the following: 

• Requirement for key staff, particularly line managers, to complete a periodic 
fraud awareness survey. 

• Qualification training for staff responsible for the investigation of suspected 
fraud. 

• Targeted training for key staff likely to use the Fraud Response Plan, when 
developed. 

• Targeted training on audit software and tools for key staff likely to participate 
in data matching exercises. 

Joint and Collaborative Working 

39. Fraud does not always fit neatly within the boundaries of the Council or district. Given 
the range of partnerships and collaborative work and the benefits of working with 
colleagues across the public and private sector, the Council actively seeks to work in 
conjunction with others. 

40. Key agencies for data sharing include but are not limited to the following: 

 Cumbria and other Police 

 Cabinet Office, DCLG and other Government Departments 

 Other Local Authorities within Cumbria and beyond 

 National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) 

 Technical Networks including CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre, LAIOG, 
TEICCAF 

 Credit reference agencies and insurers 

Page 116



 

41. Arrangements are in place and continue to be developed to encourage both joint and 
collaborative working involving the exchange of information and intelligence between 
the Council and other agencies on national and local fraud and corruption activity in 
relation to local authorities. Any such exchange of information is undertaken in 
accordance with the principles contained in the Data Protection Act 1998 and the 
Information Commissioner’s Office Code of Practice of Data Sharing. Where 
appropriate, the Council will participate in national or regional initiatives designed to 
prevent and detect fraud, such as data matching. 

Delivery of the Strategy 

42. The Council’s overall approach and key priorities for Counter Fraud 2017-20 are: 

 

Priority/Action Required Who Target Date 

Acknowledge: acknowledging and understanding the risks 

 Assessing and understanding fraud 

 Committing to support and resources for tackling fraud 

 Maintaining a robust anti-fraud response 

Prepare and publish Anti-Fraud Strategy Financial Services 
Manager 

This document 

Annual review and updating of policy framework 

Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy 

Anti-Money Laundering Policy 

Whistleblowing Policy 

Financial Services 
Manager 

Annual report to 
Audit Committee 

Prepare Fraud Response Plan Financial Services 
Manager 

September 2018 

Produce Enforcement Policy Solicitor to the 
Council  

 

Annual review of Fraud Risk Assessments Service Managers 
with Corporate 
Anti-Fraud Officer 

Annual as part of 
Service Plan 
process 

Compile annual Audit Committee Fraud report Financial Services 
Manager 

Annual to Audit 
Committee 

Deterrence and Prevention: Deferring and Preventing Fraud 

 Making better use of information and technology 

 Enhancing fraud controls and processes 

 Developing an effective anti-fraud culture 

Publicity for policy framework, strategy, training 
opportunities, on-line resources and successful 
prosecutions 

Corporate Anti-
Fraud Officer 

Ongoing 

Design and implement a periodic fraud awareness 
programme to complement existing induction 
training for officers 

Corporate Anti-
Fraud Officer and 
Organisational 
Development 
Officer 

March 2018 

Page 117



Develop existing identification/validation tools Corporate Anti-
Fraud Officer 

March 2018 

Work with colleagues in other authorities to 
enhance data sharing 

Corporate Anti-
Fraud Officer 

Ongoing 

Review the preventative controls in key Council 
systems 

Internal Audit Preparing and 
delivering Internal 
Audit Plan 

Implement agreed actions to strengthen internal 
controls 

Assistant Directors 
and Service 
Managers, 
Monitored by 
Internal Audit 
recommendation 
monitoring to Audit 
Committee 

Deadlines agreed 
in individual audit 
reports 

Ensure consistent compliance with established 
controls to prevent fraud 

Assistant Directors 
and Service 
Managers, 
reviewed by 
Internal Audit 

Ongoing 

Consider the implications for counter fraud controls 
in new and changing systems and procedures, 
including Customer Connect 

Assistant Directors 
and Service 
Managers in 
conjunction with 
s151 Officer and 
Internal Audit 

Ongoing, before 
introduction of 
new systems or 
procedures 

Participation in fraud awareness surveys Corporate Anti-
Fraud Officer 

By individual 
deadlines 

Maintain and develop relationships with partners Corporate Anti-
Fraud Officer 

Ongoing 

Detect, Investigate and Pursue: Completion of reactive and proactive work, punishing fraud 
and recovering losses 

 Effective triage and investigation of referrals 

 Targeted pro-active counter-fraud work 

 Prioritising fraud recovery and actions to punish fraudsters 

 Joint and collaborative working across the Council, other local authorities, agencies 
and the Police 

Raise fraud and corruption concerns promptly 
through the Whistleblowing Policy with a line 
manager/senior manager or Corporate Anti-Fraud 
Officer 

All staff, Members, 
contractors and 
partners 

Ongoing 

Triage and investigate reactive referrals received Corporate Anti-
Fraud Officer with 
s151 Officer 

Within 2 working 
days of receipt of 
referral 

Decision to refer to the Police for investigation Monitoring Officer  

Co-ordination and completion of National Fraud 
Initiative 

Corporate Anti-
Fraud Officer 

In accordance 
with statutory 

Page 118



deadlines 

Data matching / mining Financial Services 
Manager, 
Corporate Anti-
Fraud Officer 

Ongoing 

Ensure compliance will General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) and other information 
governance and security requirements 

Financial Services 
Manager and 
Partnerships and 
Organisational 
Development 
Manager 

 

Develop programme of wider pro-active counter 
fraud exercises 

Financial Services 
Manager, 
Corporate Anti-
Fraud Officer 

March 2020 

Work jointly and collaboratively with partners on 
key areas. 

Service Managers, 
Financial Services 
Manager, 
Corporate Anti-
Fraud Officer 

Ongoing 

 

43. The Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer will continue to assess all referrals it receives in a 
timely manner and investigate as appropriate in accordance with the Anti-Bribery, 
Fraud and Corruption Policy, working with colleagues in ICT and Legal as well as 
service managers to address concerns identified.  

44. Pro-active counter fraud work will be developed in line with priorities identified from 
national research and the Council’s fraud risk assessment. Resources will be 
targeted at areas considered to be of high risk to the Council. We will liaise with 
management regarding opportunities for joint and collaborative working with partners 
both internally and externally to enhance the quality of intelligence and data matching 
techniques. 

45. The work undertaken by the Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer and Internal Audit will 
provide management with recommendations and actions to improve the 
effectiveness of internal controls to help prevent and deter future instances of fraud 
and irregularity. 

Measuring Success 

46. Progress against the priorities and plans identified within this Strategy will be 
reported annually to Audit Committee as part of the Annual Fraud Report. 

 

 

September 2017         v1.0 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 120



South Lakeland District Council 
Anti-Money Laundering Policy 

Contents 

1 Introduction ................................................................................................................ 2 

2 Scope of the policy ..................................................................................................... 2 

3 What is money laundering? ........................................................................................ 2 

4 Legislation .................................................................................................................. 3 

5 Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the 
Payer) Regulations 2017 (MLR 2017) OVERVIEW OF OBLIGATIONS ON THE 
COUNCIL .................................................................................................................. 3 

6 Nominated officer ....................................................................................................... 3 

7 Possible signs of money laundering ........................................................................... 4 

8 High value cash transactions ...................................................................................... 4 

9 Client identification procedures ................................................................................... 4 

10 Suspicious activity reporting ....................................................................................... 5 

11 Record keeping procedures ........................................................................................ 6 

12 Conclusion ................................................................................................................. 6 

13 Review ....................................................................................................................... 6 

Appendix 3

Page 121



2 
 
 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on 
the Payer) Regulations 2017 (MLR 2017) came into force in June 2017 and, for any 
offences committed after 26 June 2017, replace the Money Laundering Regulations 
2007. The 2017 Regulations impact on certain areas of local authority business and 
require local authorities to establish internal procedures to prevent the use of their 
services for money laundering. 

2 Scope of the policy 

2.1 This Policy applies to all officers (including agency staff) and elected members of the 
Council and aims to maintain the high standards of conduct which currently exist 
within the Council by preventing criminal activity through money laundering. The 
Policy sets out the procedures which must be followed to enable the Council to 
comply with its legal obligations. Within this policy the term employees refers to all 
employees and elected members. 

2.2 Failure by an employee to comply with the procedures set out in this Policy may lead 
to disciplinary action being taken against them. Any disciplinary action will be dealt 
with in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Policy. 

2.3 Directors and managers must ensure that all employees are aware of this policy. 

3 What is money laundering? 

3.1 Money laundering is the process by which criminally obtained money or other assets 
are exchanged for clean money or assets with no obvious link to their criminal 
origins. It also covers money, however come by, which is used to fund terrorism. 

3.2 Money laundering can take many forms such as: 

• Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring criminal property or removing it 
from the UK. 

• Entering into or becoming concerned in an arrangement which you know or 
suspect facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by 
or on behalf of another person. 

• Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property. 
• Investing the proceeds of crime into other financial products or the acquisition of 

property/assets. 
• Tipping off a person(s) who is or is suspected of being involved in money 

laundering in such a way as to reduce the likelihood of or prejudice an 
investigation. 

Although the term ‘money laundering’ is generally used to describe activities of 
organised crime, for most people it will involve a suspicion that someone they know, 
or know of, is benefiting financially from dishonest activities. 

3.3 Potentially any member of staff could be caught by the money laundering provisions 
if they suspect money laundering and either become involved in it in some way 
and/or do nothing about it. Failure to report money laundering is an offence. 

Page 122



3 
 
 

3.4 Whilst the risk to the Council of contravening the legislation is low, it is extremely 
important that all employees are familiar with their legal responsibilities: serious 
criminal sanctions may be imposed for breaches of the legislation. 

4 Legislation 

4.1 The main UK legislation covering anti-money laundering and terrorist financing is: 

• Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by the Serious Organised Crime and 
Police Act 2005) 

• Terrorism Act 2000 (as amended by the Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Act 
2001) 

5 Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer 
of Funds (Information on the Payer) Regulations 2017 
(MLR 2017) OVERVIEW OF OBLIGATIONS ON THE 
COUNCIL 

5.1 The main requirements of the legislation are: 

• To appoint a money laundering reporting officer 
• Maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances 
• Implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money laundering 
• Maintain record keeping procedures 

5.2 Providing the Council does not undertake activities regulated under the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000, the offences of failure to disclose and tipping off do 
not apply. However, the Council and its employees and Members remain subject to 
the remainder of the offences and the full provisions of the Terrorism Act 2000. 

5.3 The Terrorism Act 2000 made it an offence of money laundering to become 
concerned in an arrangement relating to the retention or control of property likely to 
be used for the purposes of terrorism, or resulting from acts of terrorism. 

5.4 Potentially very heavy penalties (unlimited fines and imprisonment of up to fourteen 
years) can be handed down to those who are convicted of one of the offences above. 

6 Nominated officer 

6.1 The regulations require the Council to appoint a Nominated Officer, sometimes 
known as Money Laundering Reporting Officer (“MLRO”) who is responsible for: 

• Receiving internal suspicious transaction reports (also known as disclosures) 
from within the Council. 

• Deciding whether these should be reported to the National Crime Agency. 
• If appropriate, making such reports to the National Crime Agency. 

6.2 The Officer nominated as MLRO to receive disclosures about money laundering 
activity within the Council is the Section 151 Officer, the Assistant Director 
(Resources). She can be contacted at s.mcgregor@southlakeland.gov.uk 01539 

Page 123

mailto:s.mcgregor@southlakeland.gov.uk


4 
 
 

793112. In the absence of the MLRO, the Financial Services Manager is the 
authorised deputy (contact details: h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk or 01539 793147). 

7 Possible signs of money laundering 

7.1 It is not possible to give a definitive list of ways in which to spot money laundering but 
facts which tend to suggest that something “odd” is happening may be sufficient for a 
reasonable suspicion of money laundering to arise. 

7.2 The following are the types of risk factors which may, either alone or cumulatively 
with other factors, suggest the possibility of money laundering activity: 

• A new customer with no previous history with the Council; 
• A secretive customer: for example one who refuses to provide requested 

information without a reasonable explanation; 
• Concerns about the honesty, integrity or identity of a customer; 
• Illogical third party transactions: for example unnecessary routing or receipt of 

funds from third parties or through third party accounts; 
• Involvement of an unconnected third party without logical reason or explanation; 
• Payment of a substantial sum in cash; 
• Overpayments by a customer; 
• Absence of an obvious legitimate source of the funds; 
• Movement of funds to and from overseas, particularly to and from a higher risk 

country; 
• Where, without reasonable explanation, the size, nature and frequency of 

transactions or instructions is out of line with normal expectations; 
• Cancellation or reversal of an earlier transaction. 

8 High value cash transactions 

8.1 If the customer wishes to make cash payment, or a series of cash payments of 
£1,000 or more must consult with the Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer (01539 793249) 
and ask for, and inspect, identification before accepting payment It is best practice to 
insist on payment by cheque or electronically from a UK clearing bank. 

9 Client identification procedures 

9.1 The Council will put in place procedures to identify customers when Council land or 
property is being sold. The procedures will require the Council to: 

• Identify customers and verify their identity on the basis of documents from a 
reliable and approved source. 

• Identify where applicable the beneficial owner (see below) and take adequate 
measures on a risk sensitive basis to verify their identity. 

• Maintain records of all checks. 

“Beneficial owners” are the individuals who ultimately own or control have a legal 
interest in the asset or the person on whose behalf a transaction or activity is being 
conducted. 

Page 124

mailto:h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk


5 
 
 

9.2 If satisfactory evidence of a customer’s identity at the outset cannot be obtained, then 
the business transaction can NOT proceed any further. 

9.3 All personal data collected must be kept in accordance with the Data Protection Act. 

10 Suspicious activity reporting 

10.1 The MLRO is required to make reports to the National Crime Agency where s/he 
knows or suspects or has reasonable grounds for knowing or suspecting that a 
person is engaged in money laundering or terrorist financing. 

10.2 Any staff in the Council who know, suspect or have reasonable grounds for knowing 
or suspecting that a person is engaged in money laundering or terrorist financing 
must report such matters to the nominated officer (MLRO) as soon as possible. On 
receipt of a report, it is for the nominated officer to decide whether a suspicious 
activity report needs to be made to the National Crime Agency. 

10.3 Suspicion has its ordinary meaning, and a report should be made if a member of 
staff/the MLRO thinks that there is a possibility, which is more than fanciful, that a 
person is or has been engaged in money laundering or terrorist financing. 

10.4 The report to the MLRO should be within “hours” of the information/suspicion coming 
to your attention, not weeks or months later. Should you not do so then you may be 
liable to prosecution. 

10.5 The report should give as much information as possible: e.g. 

• Full details of the people involved (including yourself) i.e. name, date of birth, 
address, company names, direct partnerships, phone numbers etc. 

• Full details of the type of transaction and the nature of their/your involvement. 
• The date of the money-laundering activity, including whether the transactions 

have happened, are ongoing or are imminent. 
• Where they took/taking place. 
• How they were/are being undertaken. 
• The (likely) amount of money/assets involved. 
• Why you are suspicious. 

10.6 Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions 
he/she may give you. You must not make any further enquiries into the matter 
yourself. 

10.7 At no time and under no circumstances should you voice any suspicion to the 
person(s) whom you suspect of money laundering otherwise you may commit a 
criminal offence of “tipping off” (section 333 of the 2002 Act), if knowing a disclosure 
has been made to the MLRO, you make a disclosure to someone else which is likely 
to prejudice any investigation which may be conducted. The offence of “tipping off” 
carries a possible sentence of imprisonment (maximum five years), a fine, or both. 
Do not, therefore, make any reference on a client file to a report having been made to 
the MLRO – should the client exercise their right to see the file, then such a note will 
obviously tip them off to the report having been made and may render you liable to 
prosecution. The MLRO will keep the appropriate records in a confidential manner. 

Page 125



6 
 
 

11 Record keeping procedures 

11.1 Each unit of the Council conducting relevant business must maintain records of: 

• Client identification evidence obtained; and 
• Details of all relevant business transactions carried out for clients for at least six 

years. This is so that they may be used as evidence in any subsequent 
investigation by the authorities into money laundering and also to demonstrate 
the Council’s compliance with the regulations. 

11.2 The precise nature of the records is not prescribed by law. However, they must be 
capable of providing an audit trail during any subsequent investigation, for example 
distinguishing the client and the relevant transaction and recording in what form any 
funds were received or paid. In practice, the business units of the Council will be 
routinely making records of work carried out for clients in the course of normal 
business and these should suffice in this regard. 

12 Conclusion 

12.1 The Money Laundering legislation is complex. This policy has been written as a 
safeguard and to enable the Council to meet its legal obligations. 

13 Review 

13.1 This policy will be reviewed bi-annually. 

Revised September 2017 Approved Council October 2017 

Page 126



REVIEW OF ANTI-FRAUD POLICY – APPENDIX 4 

PURPOSE OF APPENDIX 

1 The purpose of this Appendix is to show the results of the Council’s review against the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing 
the Risk of Fraud and Corruption: Counter Fraud Assessment. 

Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion 

Actions required Deadline & 
Who 

A. Acknowledge responsibility 
 
The governing body should acknowledge its responsibility for ensuring that the risks associated with fraud and corruption are managed effectively across 
all parts of the organisation 

A1. The organisation’s 
leadership team acknowledge 
the threats of fraud and 
corruption and the harm they 
can cause to the organisation, 
its aims and objectives and to 
service users. 

Leaders taking the initiative: 
Public statements, spoken or written 
Current (i.e. in the last year) 
Frequency (how often is counter fraud on 

the agenda?) 
Specific (e.g. naming particular types of 

fraud, identifying the harm of fraud) 

Reports: Annual report to Audit Committee 
on content of Anti-Fraud policy, number of 
cases, amounts recovered 

Newsletters: Desktop News 

Press Articles: prosecutions e.g. tree-felling, 
benefit fraud 

Met   

A2. The organisation’s 
leadership team acknowledge 
the importance of a culture 
that is resilient to the threats of 
fraud and corruption and 
aligns to the principles of good 
governance. 

Own code of governance (has 
CIPFA/SOLACE Addendum and updated 
guidance note (2012) been taken 
account of 

Local codes of conduct/ethical behaviour 

Evidence of awareness/training/ 
guidance to reinforce ethical behaviour 
being supported/promoted by leaders 

Local Code of Governance updated 
December 2013 for CIPFA/SOLACE 
addendum & guidance note 

Code of Conduct for Employees / Code of 
Conduct for Members (do not use term anti-
corruption but make reference to 7 principles 
and stress need to avoid conflict of interest 
or acting to gain personal advantage). 

Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy 

Personal Qualities Framework – included in 
all annual assessments for staff 

Met   

A3.  The governing body 
acknowledges its responsibility 
for ensuring the management 
of its fraud and corruption risks 
and will be accountable for the 
actions it takes through its 
governance reports. 

Statement in Annual Governance Report 

Framework to manage fraud risks e.g. 
nomination of lead officer, delegated 
powers, budget. 

 

Statement included in Annual Governance 
Report from 2014/15. 

Anti-fraud and corruption policy, lead officer 
identified, resources identified. 

Met   

P
age 127



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion 

Actions required Deadline & 
Who 

A4. The governing body sets a 
specific goal of ensuring and 
maintaining its resilience to 
fraud and corruption and 
explores opportunities for 
financial savings from 
enhanced fraud detection and 
prevention. 

Goals/objectives, perhaps in the counter 
fraud strategy 

Goal is linked to risks, appropriate for 
organisation. E.g. specific to a particular 
fraud risk, include ‘resilience to fraud’ 

Consideration of opportunities for 
savings. Recognise that greater with 
some fraud risks than others 

Aims set out in Counter Fraud Strategy Met   

B. Identify risks 
Fraud risk identification is essential to understand specific exposures to risk, changing patterns in fraud and corruption threats and the potential 
consequences to the organisation and its service users. 

B1. Fraud risks are routinely 
considered as part of the 
organisation’s risk 
management arrangements. 

Does your organisation’s risk 
management policy include reference to 
risks arising from fraud and corruption 
and guidance on how the risks should be 
assessed? 

Are fraud risk assessments undertaken 
for significant new operations or changes 
to processes? 

Risk management policy updated April 2016 

Detailed specific fraud & corruption risk 
assessments completed summer 2016 and 
reviewed annually as part of service planning 
process. 

Met   

B2.  The organisation 
identifies the risks of 
corruption and the importance 
of behaving with integrity in its 
governance framework 

Does your organisation’s 
guidance/statement on good governance 
values, behaviours, codes of conduct 
include explicit reference to counter fraud 
and avoidance of corruption? 

Are training & awareness sessions 
undertaken to support the adoption of 
good ethical conduct by both staff and 
members of the governing body? 

Code of Conduct for Employees includes 
explicit reference to counter fraud, anti-
bribery and avoidance of corruption. 

Code of Conduct for Members includes 
explicit reference to seven general principles 
of conduct. 

Good ethical conduct is discussed as part of 
the Personal Qualities Framework in annual 
performance assessments conducted for all 
employees 

All newly elected members are required to 
attend training on the requirements of the 
Code of Conduct and the Member/Employee 
Protocol; this is a joint session with staff 

Met   

P
age 128



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion 

Actions required Deadline & 
Who 

B3. The organisation uses 
published estimates of fraud 
loss, and where appropriate its 
own measurement exercises, 
to aid its evaluation of fraud 
risk exposures. 

Does your organisation identify 
appropriate fraud loss estimates that are 
appropriate for its sector or fraud risk 
types?  Do you use these to inform its 
fraud risk assessment? 

Does your organisation use published 
fraud loss data as a comparator for its 
own experience of fraud and to help 
quantify value of fraud prevention. 

Annual review of anti-fraud and corruption 
activity to Audit Committee includes 
assessment of fraud loss. 

Protecting the Public Purse exercise 
organised previously by the Audit 
Commission published fraud loss data for 
comparator councils: this is reported to Audit 
Committee and used internally to help 
identify areas for additional scrutiny e.g. 
Right to Buy fraud 

Results of National Fraud Initiative used to 
guide activity. 

Met   

B4. The organisation 
evaluates the harm to its aims 
and objectives and services 
users that different fraud risks 
can cause. 

As part of a fraud risk assessment it is 
made clear where the harm caused by 
fraud lies. 

Fraud risk assessments complete Met   

C. Develop a strategy 
An organisation needs a counter fraud strategy setting out its approach to managing its risks and identifying responsibilities for action. 

C1.  The governing body 
formally adopts a counter 
fraud and corruption strategy 
to address the identified risks 
and align with the 
organisation’s acknowledged 
responsibilities and goals. 

 Strategy approved by Audit Committee 
September 2017 

 

 

Met   

C2.  The strategy includes the 
organisation’s use of joint 
working or partnership 
approaches to managing its 
risks, where appropriate.  

 

C3.  The strategy includes 
clear identification of 
responsibility and 
accountability for delivery of 
the strategy and for providing 
oversight. 

 

P
age 129



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion 

Actions required Deadline & 
Who 

D.  Provide resources 
The organisation should make arrangements for appropriate resources to support the corporate fraud strategy. 

D1. An annual assessment of 
whether the level of resource 
invested to counter fraud and 
corruption is proportionate for 
the level of risk 

Assessment is: 

 Evidenced 

 Relates to strategy & risk 

 Covers all resource forms 

 Capacity and capability 

 Agreed by accountable officer 

 Ideally, supported by analysis 

Review of anti-fraud and corruption activity 
includes summary of activity. 

Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer post approved 
April 2015: recruitment May 2015: 
commencement in post June 2015. 

 

Met   

D2.  The organisation utilises 
an appropriate mix of 
experienced and skilled staff, 
including access to counter 
fraud staff with professional 
accreditation. 

Look for: 

 Capability – trained staff for 
investigation work 

 Capability – access to specialist 
skills e.g. financial investigation 

 Capability – audit, data 
analysis, risk management, 
training & presentation delivery 

 Capability – awareness of risks 

Met   

D3.  The organisation grants 
counter fraud staff unhindered 
access to its employees, 
information and other 
resources as required for 
investigation purposes. 

Policies are in place to ensure that 
investigation staff are able to access the 
required information and staff to conduct 
the investigation.  Protocols are in place 
to ensure that such access is 
proportionate and necessary. 

Access rights are in place covering 
outsourced activities, shared services 
and partnership arrangements so that an 
investigator is able to conduct 
appropriate enquiries. 

Policies include access to info 

Access proportionate & necessary: process 
requires consent of Assistant Director 
(Resources) or deputy 

Council’s Standard Terms and Conditions of 
Contract require access to be granted to 
investigator to conduct appropriate enquiries. 

Met   

D4.  The organisation has 
protocols in place to facilitate 
joint working and data and 
intelligence sharing to support 
counter fraud activity. 

What does the organisation have in 
place? 

 Contracting arrangements 

 Resourcing agreements 

 Collaborative work 

 Handling requests for 
assistance 

Policies include access to info 

Access proportionate & necessary: process 
requires consent of Assistant Director 
(Resources) or deputy 

Council’s Standard Terms and Conditions of 
Contract require access to be granted to 
investigator to conduct appropriate enquiries. 

Met   

P
age 130



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion 

Actions required Deadline & 
Who 

E. Take action 
The organisation should put in place the policies and procedures to support the counter fraud and corruption strategy and take action to prevent, detect 
and investigate fraud. 

E1.  The organisation has put 
in place a policy framework 
which supports the 
implementation of the counter 
fraud strategy.  As a minimum 
the framework includes: 

 A counter fraud policy 

 A whistleblowing 
policy 

 An anti-money 
laundering policy 

 An anti-bribery policy 

 An anti-corruption 
policy 

 A gifts and hospitality 
policy and register 

 A pecuniary interest 
and conflicts of 
interest policy and 
register 

 Codes of conduct 
and ethics 

 An information 
security policy 

 A cyber security 
policy 

Does the organisation have 
arrangements in place to ensure that all 
appropriate staff are aware of the 
policies and understand their 
responsibilities under the policy? 

Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy 
approved by Audit Committee and Council 
December 2015  

Whistleblowing Policy approved HR 
Committee July 2013; reviewed Audit 
Committee Dec 2015 

Anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policy 
includes expanded elements on bribery 
following Internal audit recommendations 
March 2015. 

Code of Conduct for Employees includes 
policy for gifts and hospitability: register 
maintained by Monitoring Officer.  Annual 
report produced. 

Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted 
Members of the Authority includes 
instructions on pecuniary interests and 
conflicts of interest: register published on 
website 

Code of Conduct for Employees and 
Members include ethics.  For staff: Personal 
Qualities Framework 

Information Governance Framework 
approved 2015: also Data Protection Policy 
& Data Breach Notification Protocol 2017 
also Data Sharing Protocol, Records 
Retention Policy, Records Disposal Protocol 

Cyber security policy included in Information 
Security Policy 

Met   

P
age 131



Principle What should you look for Evidence Concl-
usion 

Actions required Deadline & 
Who 

E2.  Plans and operations are 
aligned to the strategy and 
contribute to the achievement 
of the organisation’s overall 
goal of maintaining resilience 
to fraud and corruption. 

The effectiveness of the organisation’s 
performance over the year is reviewed 
and an evaluation of its contribution to 
improving the organisations’ overall 
resilience is found to be favourable. 

 

Annual report to Audit Committee on Anti-
fraud and corruption policy and activity 

Met   

E3. Making effective use of 
national or sectoral initiatives 
to detect fraud or prevent 
fraud, such as data matching 
or intelligence sharing. 

The organisation takes part in initiatives 
that will help it detect or prevent fraud. 

Council participates in NFI exercises: all 
matches are checked and followed up as 
required 

Annual report to Audit Committee on anti-
fraud and corruption activity includes update 
on NFI progress. 

Met   

E4. Providing for independent 
assurance over fraud risk 
management, strategy and 
activities. 

Results of internal audit or consultants 
reports and any recommendations are 
reported to the audit committee. 

Internal audit report Counter Fraud 
Measures March 2015 

Reasonable assurance 

Reported Audit Committee April 2015 

Met   

E5. There is a report to the 
governing body at least 
annually on performance 
against the counter fraud 
strategy and the effectiveness 
of the strategy from the lead 
person(s) designated in the in 
strategy.  Conclusions are 
featured in the annual 
governance report. 

 Annual report to Audit Committee on Anti-
bribery, fraud and corruption reviews 
effectiveness of the policy. 

Any amendments to the Anti-bribery, fraud 
and corruption policy are reported to Council 
for approval. 

 

Met   

 

P
age 132



Appendix 5 

Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 

2016-19 Checklist 

A local authority is self-regulating in respect of counter fraud. It should aim to show that it undertakes realistic self-assessment and has 

identified and understands the major risks. It should acknowledge the problems and put in place plans which can demonstrate that it is taking 

action with visible outcomes. It should aim to create a transparent process and report the results to the corporate management team and those 

charged with governance. 

This national checklist has been used to measure the Council’s counter fraud and corruption culture and response. 

 Yes No N/A Comment 

The local authority has made a proper 
assessment of its fraud and corruption risks, has 
an action plan to deal with them and regularly 
reports to its senior Board and its members. 

√   Risk assessments completed 2016, reviewed annually as part of 
service planning process, actions identified for each risk. 

The local authority has undertaken an 
assessment against the risks in Protecting the 
Public Purse: Fighting Fraud Against Local 
Government (2014) and has also undertaken 
horizon scanning of future potential fraud and 
corruption risks. 

√   Additional risk identified around RTB sales: partnership working set 
up with South Lakes Housing to review applications. 
Jan 2016: flood grants identified as additional one-off risk, now 
completed and archived.   

There is an annual report to the audit committee, 
or equivalent detailed assessment, to compare 
against Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 
(FFCL) 2016 and this checklist. 

√   This report 

There is a counter fraud and corruption strategy 
applying to all aspects of the local authority’s 
business which has been communicated 
throughout the local authority and acknowledged 
by those charged with governance. 

√   Approved Audit Committee in September 2017 

P
age 133



Appendix 5 

 Yes No N/A Comment 

The local authority has arrangements in place that 
are designed to promote and ensure probity and 
propriety in the conduct of its business. 

√    

The risks of fraud and corruption are specifically 
considered in the local authority’s overall risk 
management process. 

√   Risk management policy amended April 2016 

Counter fraud staff are consulted to fraud-proof 
new policies, strategies and initiatives across 
departments and this is reported upon to 
committee. 

√   Chief Finance Officer/Financial Services Manager consulted on 
new policies, strategies and initiatives, where more detailed 
consideration is required the Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer is 
consulted. 

Successful cases of proven fraud/corruption are 
routinely publicised to raise awareness. 

√   Press coverage of fraud cases. 
 

The local authority has put in place arrangements 
to prevent and detect fraud and corruption and a 
mechanism for ensuring that this is effective and 
is reported to committee. 

√   Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer in conjunction with Financial Services 
Manager and Revenues and Benefits Manager, annual report to 
Audit Committee 

The local authority has put in place arrangements 
for monitoring compliance with standards of 
conduct across the local authority covering: 

√   Annual reports to Standards Committee or Audit Committee 

– codes of conduct including behaviour for 
counter fraud, anti-bribery and corruption 

    

– register of interests     

– register of gifts and hospitality.     

The local authority undertakes recruitment vetting 
of staff prior to employment by risk assessing 
posts and undertaking the checks recommended 
in FFCL 2016 to prevent potentially dishonest 
employees from being appointed. 

√    

P
age 134



Appendix 5 

 Yes No N/A Comment 

Members and staff are aware of the need to make 
appropriate disclosures of gifts, hospitality and 
business. This is checked by auditors and 
reported to committee. 

Partially   Members and staff aware of need to make disclosures, reported to 
committee but not checked by auditors on a recurring basis: last 
internal audit review was 2013 and found a reasonable level of 
assurance.  The recommendations of the audit report have all been 
accepted and implemented. 

There is a programme of work to ensure a strong 
counter fraud culture across all departments and 
delivery agents led by counter fraud experts. 

√   Fraud risk assessments prepared during 2016 for all services 
reviewed as part of annual service planning process; standing 
invitation for Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer to attend team meetings, 
compulsory fraud awareness training for all new staff from 
September 2016. 

There is an independent whistle-blowing policy 
which is monitored for take-up and can show that 
suspicions have been acted upon without internal 
pressure. 

√   Whistle-blowing policy approved 2013; reviewed biannually by 
Audit Committee. 

Contractors and third parties sign up to the 
whistle-blowing policy and there is evidence of 
this. There should be no discrimination against 
whistle-blowers. 

√   Included in procurement documents 

Fraud resources are assessed proportionately to 
the risk the local authority faces and are 
adequately resourced. 

√   Fraud resources are directed towards the areas with the greatest 
risks based on the fraud risk assessments. 

There is an annual fraud plan which is agreed by 
committee and reflects resources mapped to risks 
and arrangements for reporting outcomes. This 
plan covers all areas of the local authority’s 
business and includes activities undertaken by 
contractors and third parties or voluntary sector 
activities. 

√   Three-year plan included in the Counter Fraud Strategy, to be 
monitored by Audit Committee annually 

Statistics are kept and reported by the fraud team 
which cover all areas of activity and outcomes. 

√   This report 

Fraud officers have unfettered access to premises 
and documents for the purposes of counter fraud 
investigation. 

√   Also included in the Council’s standard terms and conditions for 
procurements. 

P
age 135



Appendix 5 

 Yes No N/A Comment 

There is a programme to publicise fraud and 
corruption cases internally and externally which is 
positive and endorsed by the council’s 
communication team. 

√   Fraud cases routinely reported in local press and on Council 
website. 

All allegations of fraud and corruption are risk 
assessed. 

√    

The fraud and corruption response plan covers all 
areas of counter fraud work: 

√   In summary covered by draft Counter Fraud Strategy, detailed plan 
to be prepared during 2017 

– prevention     

– detection     

– investigation     

– sanctions     

– redress.     

The fraud response plan is linked to the audit plan 
and is communicated to senior management and 
members. 

√   Fraud risk assessment help inform the preparation of the internal 
audit plan 

Asset recovery and civil recovery is considered in 
all cases. 

√   Also prosecution and penalties within the benefits system 

There is a zero tolerance approach to fraud and 
corruption which is always reported to committee. 

√   This report 

There is a programme of proactive counter fraud 
work which covers risks identified in assessment. 

√   Based on actions arising from fraud risk assessments. 

The fraud team works jointly with other 
enforcement agencies and encourages a 
corporate approach and co-location of 
enforcement activity 

√   Particularly with DWP staff on benefits work but also work with 
Police and HMRC. 

The local authority shares data across its own 
departments and between other enforcement 
agencies. 

√   Working mainly with Lancashire and North West authorities in data 
sharing.  Used resources of the National Anti-Fraud Network 
(NAFN) in obtaining data for cross-matching. 

Prevention measures and projects are undertaken 
using data analytics where possible. 

√   Mainly focussed on Revenues & Benefits, recent work on right-to-
buy applications from South Lakes Housing  

P
age 136



Appendix 5 

 Yes No N/A Comment 

The local authority actively takes part in the 
National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and promptly takes 
action arising from it. 

√   Data provided for 2016/17 NFI exercise, matches processed. 
December 2017 Council tax/electoral register review complete.  
Preparing for 2018/19 data submission. 

There are professionally trained and accredited 
staff for counter fraud work. If auditors undertake 
counter fraud work they too must be trained in this 
area.  

√   Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer professionally qualified in counter-
fraud. 

The counter fraud team has adequate knowledge 
in all areas of the local authority or is trained in 
these areas. 

√   Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer professionally qualified in counter-
fraud and has prepared fraud risk assessments to gain 
understanding of risks in other areas of the local authority. 

The counter fraud team has access (through 
partnership/other local authorities/or funds to buy 
in) to specialist staff for: 

√    

– surveillance     

– computer forensics     

– asset recovery     

– financial investigations.     

Weaknesses revealed by instances of proven 
fraud and corruption are scrutinised carefully and 
fed back to departments to fraud proof systems. 

√   Majority of cases relate to claims for benefits and reliefs: systems 
are constantly reviewed to learn from any identified frauds. 

 

P
age 137



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 138



REVIEW OF ANTI-FRAUD ACTIVITY – APPENDIX 6  

 

PURPOSE OF APPENDIX 

1 The purpose of this Appendix is to provide a summary of anti-fraud activity since 
2013/14. 

  

Year 
FTE Fraud 
Employees 

Cost of 
Fraud 

Investigation 

Total 
Number of 

Investigated 
Frauds 

Total 
Number of 
Identified 
Frauds 

Total Number 
of 

Prosecutions 

Total 
Value of 
Identified 
Frauds 

2013/14 2.4 £89,409 300 50 14 £135,000 

2014/15 2.0 £106,832 404 46 14 £208,000 

2015/16 1.2 £49,397 418 27 14 £190,281 

2016/17 1.0 £41,110 570 153 3 £358,004 

2017/18 1.0 £43,917 398 154 3 £356,925 

 

DWP took over responsibility for sanctioning Housing Benefit cases from 1/7/15. 

Despite the transfer of housing benefit fraud to the DWP, the related aspect of Council Tax 
Reduction and Council Tax discounts continues to be a key fraud risk facing the Council. In 
addition to our participation in the National Fraud Initiative (periodical data matching exercises 
between authorities of various datasets) we have also undertaken additional exercises 
ourselves to review entitlement to discounts and exemptions.  

Although SLDC no longer holds social housing stock, it holds responsibility for homelessness 
and the Homelessness Reduction Act which came into effect in April 2018 places a new legal 
duty on the Council to provide support to everyone who is homeless or at risk of homelessness 
regardless of whether they are in priority need. The NFI estimates the average cost of keeping 
a family in homeless accommodation at £93,000 per year. Therefore it is imperative the Council 
takes steps to prevent fraudulent applications.  The Council’s Fraud Officer has worked with the 
Housing Options Team in conducting investigations and this work will continue.  

SLDC also has an interest in fraudulent applications for Right to Buy.  Each property purchased 
under the RTB scheme reduces housing stock and leads to the Council placing individuals or 
families into temporary accommodation. The Fraud Officer works with South Lakes Housing to 
reduce this type of fraud and every application received by SLH is referred to the Fraud Officer 
for enquiries to be made, resulting in a number of refusals.  The Fraud Officer also investigates 
some allegations of tenancy fraud for SLH. 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 140



Document is Restricted

Page 141

Item No.11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 147

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 159

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Audit Committee 2018/19 Work Programme
	6 Annual Audit Letter for South Lakeland District Council Year Ending 31 March 2018
	7 Internal Audit Progress Report 2018/19
	Internal Audit Progress Report September 2018-19 - Appendix 1
	Internal Audit Progress Report September 2018-19 - Appendix 2a
	Internal Audit Progress Report September 2018-19 - Appendix 2b
	Internal Audit Progress Report September 2018-19 - Appendix 2c
	Internal Audit Progress Report September 2018-19 - Appendix 2d
	Internal Audit Progress Report September 2018-19 - Appendix 3

	8 Review of Effectiveness of Internal Audit
	Review of Effectiveness of Internal Audit  - Appendix 1

	9 Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity
	Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity  - Appendix 1 Anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policy
	South Lakeland District Council Anti-bribery fraud and corruption policy
	Policy document
	1 Introduction
	2 Overview
	3 Corporate framework and culture
	4 Prevention and responsibilities
	4.1 Council employees
	4.2 Members
	4.3 Internal Control Systems
	4.4 Combining with others to prevent and fight fraud

	5 Reporting, detection and investigation
	6 Training and awareness
	7 Deterrence
	8 Review
	9 Conclusions


	Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity  - Appendix 2 Counter Fraud Strategy
	Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity  - Appendix 3
	South Lakeland District Council Anti-Money Laundering Policy
	1 Introduction
	2 Scope of the policy
	3 What is money laundering?
	4 Legislation
	5 Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer) Regulations 2017 (MLR 2017) OVERVIEW OF OBLIGATIONS ON THE COUNCIL
	6 Nominated officer
	7 Possible signs of money laundering
	8 High value cash transactions
	9 Client identification procedures
	10 Suspicious activity reporting
	11 Record keeping procedures
	12 Conclusion
	13 Review


	Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity  - Appendix 4
	Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity  - Appendix 5
	Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy and Activity  - Appendix 6

	11 Customer Connect Programme Management
	Customer Connect Programme Management  - Appendix 1
	Customer Connect Programme Management  - Appendix 2




